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Heritage is important in understanding the story of Western Australia – its history, identity and diversity.

Heritage consists of places such as buildings and structures, 
monuments, gardens, cemeteries, landscapes, and archaeological 
sites.

As a community, we share the responsibility to identify and protect 
what is important, and pass on these places to future generations 
so they will understand what came before them.

In 1990, the State Government passed the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act to provide a framework in which to recognise, 
conserve, promote and celebrate heritage for the benefit of the 
Western Australian community.

The Act established the Heritage Council of Western Australia, as 
the State Government’s advisory and statutory body on heritage, 
and the State Register of Heritage Places (State Register). The 
Heritage Council is supported by the State Heritage Office, 
which is a branch of the Department of Local Government and 
Communities.

The State Register is a statutory list of places in Western Australia 
of cultural heritage significance to the State.

Entry into the State Register recognises the value and importance 
of a place and helps to promote its conservation into the 
future. Places are entered in the State Register after a rigorous 
assessment process, which includes extensive consultation with 
owners, local governments and interested stakeholders.

The State Register is currently comprised of 1,366 places 
throughout Western Australia – from the Main Pump Station in 
Kununurra in our north, Cape Leeuwin Lighthouse in the south, 
and the Gwalia Townsite in the east.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work with 
Western Australians to recognise, conserve, adapt and celebrate 
our State’s unique cultural heritage. This includes managing 
change and adaptation of places to ensure that their heritage 
significance is maintained while allowing for contemporary use. 

The 2013/14 Annual Report provides an overview of the work 
undertaken by the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office 
to achieve these goals and ensure that heritage continues to be 
recognised as integral to the vibrant life and prosperity of Western 
Australia. It also presents the audited financial statements and 
performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2014.

1.0 Overview
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1.1 Executive Summary Highlights

State Register of Heritage Places 
 ■ 13 places were entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places on an interim basis.
 ■ 14 places were entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places on a permanent basis.
 ■ 1,366 places now entered in the State Register of Heritage 

Places.

Development of Heritage Places 
 ■ 877 development referrals were determined during the year.
 ■ Almost 90 per cent of development referrals were processed 

within 30 days.
 ■ The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office have been 

actively involved in major WA developments including Elizabeth 
Quay, the Old Treasury Building (Government Central Offices), 
and Katanning Roller Flour Mill.

Assistance for Property Owners 
 ■ 24 projects shared in approximately $1.26million of grant 

funding, delivering more than $10million in conservation 
works to State heritage listed properties across WA. 

 ■ A further $572,000 was committed to Goldfields Earthquake 
Restoration Fund projects, bringing the total commitment to 
$4million. The remaining $1million will be committed to repair 
and conservation projects next year. 

 ■ Launch of Australia’s first heritage revolving fund called 
Heritage Works.

Supporting Local Governments
 ■ Delivery of a new subsidy program for local governments  

to operate a heritage advisory service. 

Strategic Projects
 ■ Information contained within our online heritage places 

database inHerit has been expanded and is now linked to 
Landgate’s Property Interest Report. 

 ■ Reintroduction of the Heritage Council Plaques Program.

Education, Training and Promotion 
 ■ Western Australian Heritage Award winning projects showcased 

in the Asia Pacific region through cooperation with the Heritage 
Council and UNESCO, with Broome’s Sailmaker’s Shed 
receiving an Honourable Mention at the 2013 UNESCO Asia 
Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage Conservation.

 ■ Launch of new annual Heritage Matters magazine to celebrate 
places State registered, successful Heritage Grants, and 
Heritage Award winners. State Heritage also joined Twitter.

 ■ A successful Heritage Management & Planning Seminar held 
in Albany with around 60 participants.

 ■ Beginnings of a heritage education framework, which will 
include online learning modules.

Best Practice 
 ■ In November 2013, the Heritage Council was named as 

a Best Practice Top 20 Small Agency by the Office of the 
Auditor General.

 ■ In March 2014, the Heritage Council won a Silver W.S.  
Lonnie Award in the category of General Government  
Sector, Agencies with under 100 FTEs.
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1.2 Heritage Council Executive Summary

On behalf of the Heritage Council of Western Australia, I am delighted to present the 2013/14 
Annual Report, detailing the organisation’s activities during the past 12 months.

There have been a number of 
significant new initiatives and 
developments this year that 
respond to the challenges 
we face in the care and 
management of Western 
Australia’s cultural heritage 
places.

The Heritage Council is 
pleased with the State 

Government’s commitment to heritage. The promised introduction 
to Parliament of new, modernised heritage legislation, the creation 
of Australia’s first heritage revolving fund, and the establishment 
of the State Heritage Office as a stand-alone department of State 
Government next year exemplify this commitment and confidence 
in the work of the Council and the Office. These ground-breaking 
initiatives support a wider focus for the Council.

I would like to thank the Heritage Minister, the Hon Albert Jacob 
MLA, who took over the portfolio in early 2013, for his support in 
progressing this important work within Government. 

In addition, the State Government has continued to support 
private owners of State Registered places with the second 
increase in Heritage Grants Program funding, resulting in 24  
State Registered places sharing in $1.26million in funding,  
which supported conservation works to the value of $10million.

This strategic program makes a substantial contribution to heritage 
conservation. Whilst pleasing, it is worth noting that the investment 
in heritage conservation across all sectors is well below the level 
required to successfully sustain the portfolio of significant places 
into the future. In recent years, we have seen an increasing 
willingness by the private sector to invest in heritage places. 
Brookfield Place and the Old Treasury Building developments are 
exemplars of this paradigm that set new benchmarks for future 
developments to aspire to. Alternative ways to facilitate and attract 
funding for heritage conservation will remain a priority, and will be a 
major focus for the new Heritage Works branch. 

The Heritage Council will continue to look at ways to build 
support for heritage conservation along with development that 
is in harmony with cultural significance that meets the needs of 
contemporary life. On this note, it is with pleasure I report that 
the Sailmaker’s Shed in Broome received an Honourable Mention 
at the 2013 UNESCO Asia Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation. This is the second WA project to be honoured in the 
two years of an agreement to shortlist for nomination WA Heritage 
Award winning conservation projects at the UNESCO awards. I 
wish the five Western Australian projects shortlisted for nomination 
in the 2014 UNESCO awards all the best.



4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heading

4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heritage Council Executive Summary continued

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow Councillors and members of 
the Register Committee and Development Committee who have 
embraced the many challenges faced by the Heritage Council this 
year and who have given their time so willingly and have diligently 
shared their heritage expertise. I would especially like to recognise 
and thank our local government representative Councillor Henry 
Zelones, whose term expired mid-year. 

And I express the Council’s appreciation to the State Heritage 
Office management and staff for their achievements and exemplary 
service delivery. The decision by State Government to make the 
Office a stand-alone department next year speaks volumes about 
the professionalism and dedication exhibited by the staff.

It is the collective contribution of the Council and the Office, with 
the support of the Government, that has delivered the many 
positive results and events that have characterised 2013/14 as a 
successful year.

Marion Fulker 
Chair 
Heritage Council of WA

Above:  Heritage Minister, the Hon Albert Jacob MLA, and Heritage Council Chair 
Marion Fulker with the 2014 Western Australian Heritage award winners. 
Photographer Darren Smith, Acorn Photography



5 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    5    Annual  Report  2013/145 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    5    Annual  Report  2013/14

1.3 State Heritage Office Executive Summary

The announcement on 6 June 2014 that the State Heritage Office will become a stand-alone 
State Government department on 1 July 2014 consolidates many years of work to establish the 
organisation as an effective and efficient arm of government.

In making the announcement, 
Heritage Minister, the Hon 
Albert Jacob MLA, stated the 
move would establish the State 
Heritage Office as the primary 
vehicle for new government 
heritage initiatives such as the 
$4million Heritage Revolving 
Fund.

The State Government’s decision is the culmination of a five-year 
strategy by the Heritage Council to develop both itself and the 
Office into contemporary organisations. This work has its origins in 
the implementation of recommendations arising from a 2009 Public 
Sector Commission functional review, which sought to establish 
greater clarity of and between the functions and decisions of the 
Council and the Office. 

In the past year, the State Heritage Office contributed to the 
successful establishment of new finance and human resource (HR) 
systems as part of a cooperative cluster with the departments of 
Racing, Gaming and Liquor, Local Government and Communities, 
and the Equal Opportunity Commission. This follows the 
decommissioning of the Office of Shared Services, and provides a 
long-term platform for shared services support.

The Office also commenced business planning and preparatory 
work arising from the announcement of the Heritage Revolving 

Fund as a Government policy commitment. It is rewarding to see 
this work result in the State Government committing $4million over 
the coming two years to establish the Fund.

Work is progressing on the replacement of the core heritage 
business system as well as implementing an electronic record 
management system, which will increase efficiencies, improve  
data security as well as reduce future costs.

The inContact database, which helps owners find a heritage 
professional, was introduced last year and has proved popular with 
more than 2,200 visits. In response to feedback, the database has 
been readied for expansion to include heritage trades next year, 
which will add a valuable new dimension to this service.

The achievements of the State Heritage Office through the year 
are due to the efforts and commitment of the Office staff with 
the guidance and backing of the Heritage Council. I would like to 
thank everyone for their dedication and support in what has been a 
challenging but highly productive 12 months.

Graeme Gammie 
Executive Director 
State Heritage Office
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2.0 Operational Structure

2.1 Vision and Objectives 
Our Vision

Heritage is integral to the vibrant life and prosperity of 
Western Australia.

Our Mission

Working with Western Australians to recognise, conserve, 
adapt and celebrate our State’s unique cultural heritage.

Our Values
 ■ Integrity
 ■ Respect
 ■ Professionalism
 ■ Collegiality

 ■ Innovation
 ■ Excellence
 ■ Diversity
 ■ Service

Our Objectives
 ■ The places that represent the story of Western 

Australia’s history and development are 
comprehensively identified and chronicled.

 ■ Western Australia’s heritage places are conserved 
through sound conservation practice, successful 
adaptation and harmonious development.

 ■ The importance of heritage places to Western 
Australia’s identity and quality of life is understood 
and appreciated.

Busselton Jetty, Busselton (1865)
Busselton Jetty, one of Western Australia’s most recognisable heritage icons, was 
entered in the State Register of Heritage Places on a permanent basis this year.
The 1.82km landmark tourist attraction was constructed in nine stages from 1865, and 
is one of the longest timber jetties in the Southern Hemisphere.
The jetty played a critical role in the commercial and agricultural development of the 
region, originally servicing ships carrying timber and livestock. Over time, it has evolved 
to become one of the most popular heritage tourism attractions in the State, with 
more than 400,000 people a year visiting the jetty to learn about its history and unique 
marine ecosystems.
During its 149-year history, the jetty had been battered by storms and fire and was 
twice earmarked for demolition following the closure of the port in 1972. On both 
occasions, the community banded together to save the jetty.
The jetty was added to the State Register in 2009, but did not immediately progressed 
to permanent status due to a $27million restoration, mostly funded by the State 
Government ($24million), which was carried out between 2009 and 2013.
Due to provisions under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, progressing a 
place from interim to permanent registration can result in the revocation of certain 
planning and development applications. The State Heritage Office worked closely with 
the City of Busselton to ensure that once works on the jetty were complete permanent 
registration was swiftly progressed.
The Heritage Minister, the Hon Albert Jacob MLA, announced the permanent 
registration of the jetty at an event in February 2014 attended by the Member for Vasse 
Troy Buswell MLA and the Mayor of Busselton Ian Stubbs.
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2.2 Heritage Council of Western Australia 

The Heritage Council of Western Australia is the State Government’s advisory and statutory body on heritage.

The Heritage Council was established under section 5 of the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. It is listed as a statutory 
authority on Schedule 1 of the Financial Management Act of 2006 
and is subject to the provisions of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994.

The Heritage Council is invested with functions and powers 
under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990. The Council, 
which is assisted by the State Heritage Office, determines the 
organisation’s strategy and policies; and key decisions are 
reserved to the Council.

The Council comprises nine persons appointed by the Governor 
of Western Australia on the recommendation of the Minister for 
Heritage.

The Council’s primary roles are to:
 ■ Recommend places to the Minister for entry in the State 

Register
 ■ Review and provide advice on major development of 

heritage places to ensure the cultural heritage significance 
is maintained while allowing for contemporary use and 
adaptation

 ■ Promote the conservation of Western Australia’s heritage
 ■ Set strategic direction for the State Heritage Office

The Heritage Council is assisted in its work by two sub-
committees comprising Heritage Councillors and experienced 
heritage professionals. 

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work together 
under the same legislation and shared corporate strategy.

2.3 State Heritage Office 
The State Heritage Office is a branch of the State Government 
that supports the Heritage Council and the Minister for Heritage 
to identify, celebrate and promote the conservation and sensitive 
development of cultural heritage places in WA.

The State Heritage Office carries out most of the Heritage 
Council’s day-to-day operations, projects and service delivery. 
Delegation of responsibilities from the Council to the Office occurs 
within the framework of a formal delegation policy that is reviewed 
annually. This includes providing advice on development referrals 
and planning policies.

It is also accountable to the Minister for Heritage.

The State Heritage Office staff comprises 30 FTEs who are 
employed by the Department of Local Government and 
Communities, which provides support services in human 
resources, finance and information technology.
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Operational Structure continued

Responsible Minister

Hon Albert Jacob MLA  
Minister for Environment; Heritage 

Enabling Legislation

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Legislation Administered

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Other Key Compliance Legislation 

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972; Maritime Archaeology Act 1973; 
Planning and Development Act 2005; Building Act 2011; 
Auditor General Act 2006; Disability Services Act 1993; Equal 
Opportunity Act 1984; Financial Management Act 2006; Freedom 
of Information Act 1992; Industrial Relations Act 1979; Minimum 
Conditions of Employment Act 1993; Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984; Public Sector Management Act 1994; Salaries 
and Allowances Act 1975; State Records Act 2000; and State 
Supply Commission Act 1991.

Employing Authority (State Heritage Office)

Department of Local Government and Communities (DLGC)

Background: Heritage Minister the Hon Albert Jacob MLA (left) with Cygnet 
Cinema owner Colin Stiles at the announcement of the successful 2013/14 
Heritage Grants Program projects. Photographer Darren Smith, Acorn 
Photography
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2.4 Organisational Structure

Information Technology

Legal

Finance

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
SERVICES

Supports and develops the role 
of local government and State 
government agencies in the 

conservation and management 
of heritage places.

HERITAGE WORKS
Manages the Heritage 
Revolving Fund which 

revitalises publicly-owned 
heritage places through 

conservation, adaptive reuse 
and transitioning places to 

new ownership.

ASSESSMENTS AND 
REGISTRATIONS 

Undertakes the assessment 
and registration of places for 
inclusion in the State Register 

of Heritage Places.

DEVELOPMENT AND 
INCENTIVES

Assessment of development 
referrals for registered places 
and the provision of advice on 

other heritage matters.

Grants 

BUSINESS SERVICES 
Provides essential services 

and support for the 
State Heritage Office and 
ensures compliance with 

accountability and statutory 
reporting responsibilities.

Records

Heritage Tourism

Customer Service

Marketing

Library

Corporate Communications

Administration

STATE HERITAGE OFFICE
Executive Director  

Mr Graeme Gammie

MINISTER FOR HERITAGE
Hon Albert Jacob MLA

EMPLOYING AUTHORITY
Department of Local Government 

and Communities  
Director General  

Ms Jennifer Mathews

HERITAGE COUNCIL  
OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

Chair Mrs Marion Fulker
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2.5 Heritage Council Members

The Heritage Council comprises nine members and includes a chairperson, a representative each from the heritage professions, 
local government, owners’ interest groups, a nominee of the National Trust of Australia (WA) and four other members.

Councillors

Mrs Marion Fulker (Chair), Mrs Anne Arnold, Mr Philip Griffiths, 
Mayor Henry Zelones (term expired 1 January 2014), Professor 
John Stephens, Mr David Heaver, Mr Lloyd Clark, Ms Nerida 
Moredoundt, Mr Noel Robertson.

Mrs Marion Fulker – Chair (appointed 2009) 

Marion was appointed Chair of the Heritage 
Council in 2009 after serving four years on 
the board. 

Marion is the CEO of the Committee for 
Perth, a future focused organisation that 
is committed to creating a more cohesive, 
dynamic and attractive metropolitan area. 
In ‘A Cultural Compact for Perth, the 10 
year challenge’, which was borne out of 

large scale community consultation undertaken by the Committee 
for Perth, a key recommendation is to link history and heritage in 
order to bring forward people’s stories and cultures as a way of 
appreciating our rich cultural heritage.

Marion’s work as Chair of the Heritage Council aims to protect 
and enhance these features in a way that can be important to the 
Perth of the future. She believes that registration of places of State 
significance can serve to enhance our sense of place.

Marion has a Masters in Business Administration and was the 
Executive Director of the Urban Development Institute of Australia 
(WA) from 2002 to 2006.

Through her role on the Council, she is a member of the Western 
Australian Planning Commission’s Central Perth Planning Committee.

Mrs Anne Arnold - Deputy Chair; Owners’ Interests 
Representative (appointed 2008); and 
Chair of the Development Committee

Anne is the former Chief Executive of the 
Real Estate Institute of Western Australia. 
She has been involved in property, planning, 
real estate and housing throughout her 25 
year career including Executive Director of 
UDIA WA (1989-1998), Deputy Chair of the 
Western Australian Planning Commission 

(1996-1999), and as the inaugural Director of the Office of Housing 
Policy (1999-2002). Anne is currently a member of the Landgate 
Board of Management and Director of Southern Cross Care. 

Anne has had an ongoing interest in heritage and its impact 
on property owners since she was involved in coordinating 
development industry comment on the Heritage Bill in the 
early 1990s. She believes that the Heritage Council should be 
focused on educating and convincing owners of the benefits of 
heritage listing, and working with them to assist in optimising the 
commercial viability of any development of their properties.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Mr Philip Griffiths - Professionals Representative (appointed 
1992); and Chair of the Register 
Committee.

Award winning architect Philip is Director 
of Griffiths Architects and President of 
the WA Chapter of the Australian Institute 
of Architects. Philip is also a member of 
Australia ICOMOS, DOCOMOMO, National 
Trust of Australia (WA), and Fremantle 
Prison Advisory Committee.

One of WA’s most experienced and respected architects, Philip 
has been involved with some of WA’s most iconic historic buildings 
including Fremantle Prison, Episcopal Palace, Premier’s Office and 
Cabinet Room, WA Ballet Centre, Government House, Central 
Government Buildings, and Parliament House. Prior to this, he was 
based in the United Kingdom where he worked on various heritage 
properties in London, Hereford, Canterbury, Bristol and Bolton.

Philip provides valuable knowledge and expertise on the 
conservation and adaption of heritage places, and enjoys passing 
on the passion and knowledge of heritage to emerging architects 
and building owners who have, or are thinking of, acquiring 
heritage places.

Mayor Henry Zelones JP – Local Government Representative 
(appointed 2008 – term expired 1 January 
2014); and Chair of the Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Henry is Mayor of the City of Armadale 
and nominated by WA Local Government 
Association to represent local government 
on the Heritage Council. 

Henry’s long experience in heritage matters 
goes back to the early 1990s where 

he chaired the City of Armadale’s Municipal Heritage Inventory 
Committee. He remained a member of the City’s Heritage Advisory 
Committee until his appointment to the Heritage Council in 2008.

While his task as a Councillor is to consider heritage matters of 
State significance, he has been associated with the establishment 
of the Heritage Council’s Declaration of Interest Policy, which 
guides Councillors and staff ensuring full transparency and 
accountability in its decision-making, and with the establishment  
of its first Audit and Risk Committee.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Professor John Stephens – National Trust of Australia (WA) 
nominee (appointed 2011) 

John is currently a teacher and researcher 
in the School of Built Environment at Curtin 
University. His area of expertise includes 
architectural history, heritage and war 
commemoration.

Originally a practicing architect, John is 
a member of the Australia Asia Pacific 
Institute and an active volunteer in State 

heritage matters. He is a Councillor of the National Trust and 
member of ICOMOS.

Mr David Heaver (appointed 2009)

One of WA’s leading regional heritage 
architects, David is the Managing Director 
of H+H Architects in Albany. He has 
worked extensively on heritage buildings 
in metropolitan and regional WA including 
Fremantle Prison, Old Farm Strawberry 
Hill, Albany Court House Precinct, and 
Breaksea Island Houses. 

David has been involved in a range of 
community and cultural development committees in Albany and 
has had a particular interest in the conservation and interpretation 
of the many heritage buildings and precincts in the Albany Region. 
He was awarded the Western Australian Heritage Award in 
2006 for Outstanding commitment to heritage conservation and 
interpretation in Western Australia by an individual.

David’s experience with institutional, commercial and heritage 
projects, together with his understanding of issues from a regional 
perspective, provides an added strength to the Heritage Council.

Mr Lloyd Clark (appointed 2010)

Lloyd is the founder and Managing Director 
of Match group of companies. Match has 
undertaken a number of redevelopments of 
heritage properties including the WD & HO 
Wills Building known as “Home” warehouse 
apartments which won the 2009 National 
Property Council of Australia Award for 
adaptive reuse.

In 2009, Match won the Western Australian 
Heritage Award for Excellence in adaptive reuse: The Gerry 
Gauntlett Award. 

Lloyd’s practical experience in redevelopment and adaptive 
reuse of heritage properties assists in his role as a member of 
the Development Committee. Lloyd believes that the Heritage 
Council and developers need to work in partnership to ensure 
the preservation and conservation of heritage properties for future 
generations to enjoy.
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Heritage Council Members continued

Ms Nerida Moredoundt (appointed 2010)

Nerida is the Principal Heritage Architect 
with TPG Town Planning, Urban Design 
and Heritage. She brings a depth of 
experience in heritage planning to the 
important advisory role the Heritage Council 
plays in the identification and management 
of heritage places in Western Australia.

Nerida is a member of Australia ICOMOS 
and is highly regarded for her work in 

the adaptive reuse of heritage buildings, the assessment of the 
potential impact of development in heritage areas and master 
planning for complex heritage sites. She has a particular interest 
in working with owners, government agencies and community 
organisations to find practical outcomes that enhance our 
appreciation of heritage places. 

Mr Noel Robertson (appointed 2011) 

Noel has had more than 20 years 
experience in town planning, specialising in 
heritage. He has worked at the City of Perth 
for more than 15 years in the Strategy Unit. 

In his current role as the City’s Principal 
Heritage Officer, he has been instrumental 
in developing and implementing the City of 
Perth Heritage Program, which is a State 
and national leader in what it delivers. Prior 

to this appointment, Noel worked for the City of Swan in the Town 
Planning Department. 

Noel is driven by what the potential of heritage can deliver to all 
sections of our society and is committed to delivering this in a 
holistic and inclusive manner.

Heritage Council Committees 

Register Committee

The Register Committee determines the priority of assessment for 
all places nominated to the State Register; reviews assessment 
documentation of places under consideration; and makes 
recommendations to the Minister for Heritage regarding places 
deemed to have State-level cultural heritage significance. 

Members: Mr Philip Griffiths (Chair), Mayor Henry Zelones, 
Professor John Stephens, Ms Nerida Moredoundt 
Other members: Dr Fiona Bush (historian and archaeologist), 
Dr Sue Graham-Taylor (historian), Mr Peter Woodward (heritage 
practitioner and landscape architect). 

Development Committee

Proposed major changes to places listed in the State Register 
require formal consideration and advice by the Heritage Council. 
The Development Committee provides this advice for large-scale 
or complex projects, except when a project is particularly sensitive 
in which case it is dealt with by the full Council.

Members: Mrs Anne Arnold (Chair), Mr Noel Robertson,  
Mr Lloyd Clark, Mr David Heaver
Other members: Mr Tony Ednie-Brown (heritage architect),  
Ms Jennifer Marschner (registered architect and former Heritage 
Councillor), Mr Gerald Major (licensed valuer and real estate agent), 
Mr Chris Antill (urban planner and designer).
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Heritage Council Members continued

Attendance at Heritage Council Meetings

10 Council meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mrs Marion Fulker 8
Mrs Anne Arnold 10
Mr Lloyd Clark 8
Mr Philip Griffiths 9
Mr David Heaver 9
Mayor Henry Zelones* 5
Prof John Stephens 8
Ms Nerida Moredoundt 9
Mr Noel Robertson 7

*Mayor Henry Zelones retired during the year and therefore served 
on the Council for part of the year only.

Attendance at Register Committee Meetings

11 Register Committee meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mr Philip Griffiths 11
Prof John Stephens 11
Mayor Henry Zelones* 6
Ms Nerida Moredoundt 7
Dr Fiona Bush 10
Mr Peter Woodward** 9
Dr Sue Graham-Taylor** 8

* Mayor Henry Zelones retired during the year and therefore served 
on the Council for part of the year.

**  Mr Peter Woodward and Dr Sue Graham-Taylor joined the 
Committee in August and therefore served for part of the year.

Attendance at Development Committee Meetings

12 Development Committee meetings were held

Name Attendance
Mrs Anne Arnold 9
Mr Lloyd Clark 11
Mr Noel Robertson 8
Mr David Heaver 9
Mr Anthony Ednie-Brown 11
Mr Chris Antill 9
Mr Gerald Major 7
Ms Jennifer Marschner 10
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2.6 State Heritage Office Staff

Executive Director 

Graeme Gammie Dip Bus Admin

Graeme joined the State Government as a Business Planning 
Consultant and Risk Manager for the Department of Contract and 
Management Services in 1997. Prior to joining the State Heritage 
Office in 2009, Graeme was the Department of Housing’s General 
Manager of Corporate Development Services and Executive 
Manager of Fremantle Prison.

During his six years at Fremantle Prison, he created a new 
vision for the development and sustainability of this significant 
State heritage site, establishing it as a premier heritage tourism 
attraction. He was also instrumental in the Prison’s entry in the 
new National Heritage List and for setting the ground work for its 
inscription in the UNESCO World Heritage in 2010 - making it the 
first built environment in Western Australia to be bestowed this 
honour.

Since joining the State Heritage Office, Graeme has overseen 
major governance and operational changes within the 
organisation, leading to the State Government’s decision, 
announced in June, that the agency become its own State 
Government Department on 1 July 2014.

Graeme is supported by a corporate executive team which has 
extensive experience in heritage, architecture, archaeology, 
planning, tourism and business services.

Manager Business Services

Paula Nelson B Bus

Paula has a Bachelor of Business and extensive business 
management experience across the private and public sector.  
Her background is in the delivery of excellent tourism product, 
including managing Fremantle Prison’s visitor services, prior to 
joining the State Heritage Office in 2010 as Manager Business 
Services. She is a Fellow of Leadership WA and sits on their 
Finance Risk and Audit Committee. Paula was nominated as a 
finalist in the IPAA Achievement Awards 2014.

Manager Development and Incentives

Dr Adelyn Siew B Arch(Hons), PhD

Before joining the State Heritage Office in 2007, Adelyn lectured 
in the Architecture and Interior Architecture Department at Curtin 
University of Technology, where she emphasised the need to 
understand architecture through its cultural context. At the State 
Heritage Office, she enjoys the challenges of striking a balance 
between adaptive reuse and the significance of a place.

Manager Assessment and Registration

Dr Penny O’Connor BA, MSc, PhD

Penny has a PhD in cultural heritage. Before joining the State 
Heritage Office, she taught in the field of Cultural Heritage for 
many years in Australia and overseas. She has also worked as 
a Conservation Officer in local government, and as a heritage 
consultant, where she worked on heritage assessments and 
inventories, conservation plans, community heritage studies and 
policy reviews.
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State Heritage Office  continued

Director Heritage Works

Mike Betham

Mike is an experienced member of staff, having worked with  
the State Heritage Office and Heritage Council for more than  
20 years. He has worked in most parts of the business including 
strategic planning, special projects, local government services, 
and development. He holds a town planning qualification and has 
a strong interest in heritage places as economic and environmental 
assets.

Manager Local Government Services

Callum Crofton MA, BA(Hons), M.ICOMOS

Originally from the United Kingdom, Callum has a degree in 
Economic and Social History, and a Masters degree in Heritage 
Management. A scholarship brought him to Western Australia to 
study and he eventually moved to Perth in 2006. Having spent 
time as a heritage management consultant, Callum worked in local 
government for three years as a Heritage Officer with the City of 
Perth before moving to State Government in his current role at the 
State Heritage Office.

Standing l-r:  Callum Crofton, Manager Local Government Services;  
Mike Betham, Director of Heritage Works. 

Seated l-r:  Dr Penny O’Connor, Manager Assessment and Registration; 
Graeme Gammie, Executive Director; and Paula Nelson,  
Manager Business Services.
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3.0 Performance Management Framework

Government Goal: Social and Environmental Responsibility:
Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the long term benefit of the State.

Desired Outcome
Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations.

Service
Cultural Heritage Conservation Services

O
b

je
ct

iv
es Objective 1 

The places that represent the story 
of Western Australia’s history and 
development are comprehensively 
identified and chronicled.

Objective 2
Western Australia’s heritage places are 
conserved through sound conservation 
practice, successful adaptation and 
harmonious development.

Objective 3
The importance of heritage places to 
Western Australia’s identity and quality  
of life is understood and appreciated.

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

Progress the State Register of Heritage 
Places as a collection of places that are 
recognised for their cultural heritage 
significance to the people of Western 
Australia.
Maintain a well understood listing 
threshold for entry in the State Register 
that enjoys a high level of public 
confidence and support certainty in 
forward planning.

Provide advice on development 
proposals under a policy framework 
that is informed, reasonable, timely, 
consistent, transparent and clear.
Work with key government agencies 
to ensure that heritage conservation 
is actively supported in statutory and 
regulatory frameworks, metropolitan and 
regional planning, and asset ownership.

Enhance the understanding of the 
State Register of Heritage Places as a 
collection of places that symbolise and 
celebrate Western Australia’s cultural 
heritage.
Promote heritage success stories and 
engagement with the State’s heritage 
through media, publications, tourism and 
interpretation.

continued next page
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Performance Management Framework continued

Objective 1 Objective 2 Objective 3

S
tr

at
eg

ie
s

Implement best practice and complete 
transparency in all aspects of the process 
of entering places in the State Register of 
Heritage Places.
Promote consistency and high 
standards in local governments’ heritage 
identification and listing practices.

Improve the availability of information 
about the sustainability and economic 
benefits of heritage conservation and 
adaptation.
Build capacity in heritage planning and 
management in local governments, and 
in State government agencies.
Increase private and public sector 
investment in heritage conservation by 
providing or facilitating grants, incentives 
and advice.
Develop awareness of opportunities and 
mechanisms for reviving disused and 
neglected heritage places.

Deliver and promote improved heritage 
training and education opportunities in 
WA.

Relationship to Government Goals

The Heritage Council aims to conserve cultural heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations.

This outcome is aligned to the higher-level Government goal of protecting and enhancing the unique West Australian lifestyle, as well as 
ensuring sustainable environmental management and supporting outcomes based service delivery.

Changes to Outcome Based Management Structure

There have been no changes to the Outcome Based Management Framework during 2013/14.

Shared Responsibility with Other Agencies

The Heritage Council has no shared responsibilities with other agencies.
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4.0 Agency Performance – Report on Operations

4.1 Agency Performance compared to Resource Agreements Targets

Financial Targets Target
$’000

Actual
$’000

Variation
$’000

Total cost of services 7,291 7,408 117
Net cost of services 7,273 7,368 95
Total equity 3,231 4,908 1,677
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 34 (1,063) (1,097)
Approved full time equivalent (FTE) 30 29.4 (0.6)

Heritage Council Desired Government Outcomes and Key Performance Indicators

Desired Outcome: Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations

Key Effectiveness Indicators Target
$

Actual
$

Variation
$

Extent to which heritage places identified as having potential State significance have been assessed 76% 75.8% 0.2%
Extent to which development approvals issued for registered places are consistent with the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia's advice to decision-making authorities 100% 100% 0%

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment in conservation projects 2:1 5.7:1 3.7:1

Key Efficiency Indicators Target Actual Variation
Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full assessment but resulting in decisions not to 
recommend interim registration. 6.5% 6.3% (0.2%)

Average cost per place of maintaining the State Register of Heritage Places $169 $97 $72
Average cost of development referrals $938 $848 $90
Average cost of administering grants (per grant dollar) 19c 10c 9c
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4.2 State Register of Heritage Places

The State Register of Heritage Places is a statutory list of places that represent the story of Western Australia’s history and 
development. Entry in the State Register recognises the value and importance of a place and helps promote its conservation into 
the future.

Places are entered in the State Register following a rigorous 
assessment and registration process, which includes extensive 
consultation with owners, local governments and other 
stakeholders.

Places typically come to the attention of the Heritage Council 
through either a nomination or referral. Any member of the 
community or an organisation can nominate a place to be 
considered for entry in the State Register. Most referrals are 
received from government agencies. 

On receiving a nomination or referral, the State Heritage Office 
drafts a preliminary review for consideration by the Heritage 
Council’s Register Committee. Less than half of all the places that 
have undergone a preliminary review have been determined to 
warrant full assessment for possible inclusion in the State Register, 
and the rate is steadily decreasing as the work of populating the 
Register progresses.

A full heritage assessment considers a range of heritage values 
including the aesthetic, historic, scientific and social values of 
a place, in addition to its rarity, representativeness, condition, 
integrity and authenticity. The State Heritage Office undertakes the 
assessment work and the subsequent comprehensive stakeholder 
consultation.

Places that the Heritage Council considers meet the criteria for 
registration are recommended to the Minister for Heritage. The 
Minister makes the decision on whether the place will be entered 
in the State Register.

Place Assessments 

This year, 90 places underwent a preliminary review by the 
Heritage Council’s Register Committee. Of these, 17 places 
were nominated by the community for possible inclusion in the 
State Register, and another 39 places were referred through the 
Government Heritage Property Disposal Process. The balance of 
places were reviewed by the Committee for a variety of reasons 
such as their inclusion in thematic studies, new evidence about 
cultural significance coming to light, and the ongoing review of the 
Heritage Council’s Assessment Program. 

In the past few years, the State Heritage Office has reviewed and 
implemented major changes to the way it assesses places for 
the Register. Assessments are now principally undertaken by the 
staff at the State Heritage Office, with some work outsourced to 
private contractors. Senior Heritage Officers in the Assessment 
and Registration branch undertake most of the research needed 
to assess a place and, as a result, liaise more closely with owners 
from the beginning of the assessment and registration process. 
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State Register of Heritage Places continued

The change to doing most assessment work in-house continues 
to create efficiencies and is helping to build positive relationships 
with stakeholders, particularly owners, who are in a better position 
to understand the real, rather than perceived, effect of registration. 

This year, the Heritage Council decided to progress 19 new places 
to stakeholder consultation on their possible inclusion in the 
Register. In one other case, the decision was that the place did not 
meet the threshold for entry in the Register, and stakeholders were 
advised of this decision.

Stakeholder consultation can take time, sometimes several years. 
This can be for a variety of reasons including difficulties contacting 
owners and interested parties, negotiations about the area of land 
to be included in the Register, and owner concerns about the 
possible effect of registration. As a result, the State Heritage Office 
is currently in stakeholder negotiations on the possible registration 
of a total of 87 places, including those added this year.

Where consultation has been inactive for some time and is being 
reactivated, it is prudent that the Heritage Council reaffirms its 
decision that the place warrants consideration for the Register, in 
which case the assessment documentation is brought up to date. 
The Heritage Council re-affirmed its decision on seven pre-existing 
assessments this year. 

Entries in the State Register

This year, 14 new places were recommended to the Minister 
for interim registration, of which 13 were approved. A further 
place was recommended to the Minister for an amendment to 

interim registration, and was approved. Fourteen places were 
recommended for permanent registration, all of which were 
approved.

In total, 13 new places were entered in the State Register on an 
interim basis and 14 places were permanently registered, bringing 
the total number of registered places to 1,366. 

Highlights include: 
 ■ St Brigid’s Catholic Church Group, Midland (interim and 

permanent): an elaborate landmark on Great Eastern 
Highway, it is indicative of the expansion of the Sisters of 
Mercy during the late 19th and early 20th centuries, and 
their important role in education in Western Australia.

 ■ The Serbian Orthodox Church of St Sava, Highgate (interim 
and permanent): an outstanding Christian Orthodox Church 
that is indicative of the arrival of immigrants from Eastern 
Europe, particularly in the post WWII period, it is the second 
oldest Serbian Orthodox Church in Australia.

 ■ Toodyay Court House (fmr) and former Convict Depot 
Archaeological Deposits (interim): a rich archaeological site 
dating to the convict period, underneath and around a fine 
Federation Free Classical Court House designed by George 
Temple-Poole.

 ■ Glentromie Farm Group (permanent): a substantial mid-
19th century pastoral station built by a former indentured 
servant that contains excellent, rare examples of buildings 
constructed by skilled ticket-of-leave men.
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State Register of Heritage Places continued

Assessments and Registrations
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Assessments and Registrations

In 2012/13, the Heritage Council took a strategic decision to focus 
on progressing places with pre-existing assessments to provide 
greater certainty for stakeholders, which resulted in a lower 
number of new places being assessed.

State Registered Places
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1,318 1,338 1,353 1,366

State Registered Places as at 30 June

State Registered Places

Note: Two places were removed from the State Register in 
2010/11.
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State Register of Heritage Places continued

Amendments to Permanent Registrations

One amendment was made to a permanently registered place 
during the year. 

The curtilage of Wongan Hills Station Master’s House was 
expanded to align with the boundary of a new lot that had been 
created on what had previously been unnumbered railway reserve.

Places not Interim Registered 

Michelides Tobacco Factory, Northbridge.

State Register of Heritage Places Interim Registrations 2013/14

LGA Place No Place Name Address Interim
Swan 2515 St Brigid's Catholic Church Group, 

Midland
2 Dudley St, Midland 30/07/2013

Manjimup 1506 Jardee School (fmr) Lot 555 Tynams Rd, Jardee 13/08/2013
Broome 1506 Bull Pen Shelter Shed and Archaeological 

Deposits
13 Hamersley St, Broome 13/08/2013

Greater Geraldton 4630 Tibradden Homestead Group 1318 Sandsprings Rd, Tibradden 11/10/2013
Vincent 8746 Serbian Orthodox Church of St Sava 31 Smith St, Highgate 11/10/2013
Nedlands 1830 St Margaret’s Anglican Church 52 Tyrell St, Nedlands 24/01/2013
Nedlands 2971 Shenton Park Rehabilitation Hospital 6 Selby St, Nedlands 11/03/2014
Swan 18879 Olive Farm Cellars 12 Loder Wy, South Guildford 01/04/2014
Kalgoorlie-Boulder 1284 Western Australian Bank (fmr), Kalgoorlie 106 Hannan St, Kalgoorlie 08/04/2014
Toodyay 2560 Toodyay Court House (fmr) and former 

Convict Depot Archaeological Sites
13-14 Fiennes St, Kalgoorlie 17/06/2014

Cottesloe 2044 Claremont Police Station, Lock-up & 
Stables

137-139 Grant St, Claremont 24/06/2014

Northam 1874 Fermoy House (fmr), Northam 1 Lance St, Northam 24/06/2014
Northam 1881 Northam State School (fmr) 33 Wellington St, Northam 24/06/2014
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State Register of Heritage Places continued

State Register of Heritage Places Permanent Registrations 2013/14

LGA Place No Place Name Address Interim Permanent
Perth 2072 No. 2 Substation, Murray Street 325 Murray St, Perth 12/02/2013 13/08/2013
Beverley 150 St Mary's Anglican Church 

Precinct, Beverley
64 John St, Beverley 31/05/2013 11/10/2013

Swan 2515 St Brigid's Catholic Church Group, 
Midland

2 Dudley St, Midland 30/07/2013 25/10/2013

Victoria Plains 12874 Glentromie Farm Group 45 Glentromie-Yerecoin Rd, 
Glentromie

31/05/2013 11/10/2013

Quairading 24588 St Francis Xavier Church & 
Presbytery, Quairading

72 Coraling St, Quairading 11/06/2013 11/10/2013

Busselton 423 Busselton Jetty Queen St, Busselton 30/06/2009 22/11/2013
Manjimup 1506 Jardee School (fmr) Lot 555 Tynans Rd, Jardee 13/08/2013 03/12/2013
Greater Geraldton 4630 Tibradden Homestead Group 1318 Sandsprings Rd, Tibradden 11/10/2013 24/01/2014
Broome 19855 Bull Pen Shelter Shed and 

Archaeological Deposits
13 Hamersley St, Broome 06/09/2013 24/01/2014

Vincent 8746 Serbian Orthodox Church of  
St Sava

31 Smith St, Highgate 11/10/2013 28/03/2014

Nedlands 1830 St Margaret’s Anglican Church 52 Tyrell St, Nedlands 24/01/2014 16/05/2014
Northam 1852 Northam Fire Station No. 2  

& Quarters (fmr)
87 Duke St, Northam 18/11/2008 24/06/2014

Kalgoorlie-Boulder 1284 Western Australian Bank (fmr), 
Kalgoorlie

106 Hannan St, Kalgoorlie 08/04/2014 24/06/2014

Karratha 2339 Roebourne Hospital Group 51-61 Hampton St, Roebourne 16/10/1992 30/06/2014
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State Register of Heritage Places continued

Northam’s rich heritage celebrated
The State Heritage Office worked closely with the Shire of Northam, the 
Catholic Church and Northam’s local historical groups to add three highly 
significant heritage places in the town of Northam to the State Register of 
Heritage Places this year.
It may come as a surprise to some that there are 28 State Registered 
places in Northam, making it the third most heritage-listed regional town 
in Western Australia, after Albany with 46 places and Kalgoorlie with 36 
places. The town was one of the first to be established in the colony and 
has played an integral role in the history and development of the State from 
a very early date.
Northam continues to be an important regional centre in the 21st 
century, as reflected in the State Government’s 2011 Regional Centres 
Development Plan which identified it as one of a network of nine 
SuperTowns. 
In response to the anticipated growth and development of Northam, the 
State Heritage Office is working to assess heritage places in the town 
which are considered to be worthy of State heritage listing.

The places prioritised for assessment this year included Fermoy House 
(fmr), Northam State School (fmr) and Northam Fire Station No. 2 
and Quarters (fmr). A number of places have also been scheduled for 
assessment next year.

 ■ The grand hill-top residence Fermoy House (pictured left) was built for 
the then Premier George Throssell in 1897 and is now used as a primary 
school.

 ■ Northam State School (pictured centre), which opened in 1878, is one 
of the earliest purpose-built State schools that still exists today, and 
continues to be used as a community arts centre.

 ■ Northam Fire Station No. 2 (pictured right) was built in 1929 and was 
one of the last individually designed stations in the State. Today, it is 
used by a number of Northam’s local community groups.

The State Heritage Office worked closely with the Shire of Northam, which 
owns the former State School and Fire Station, and the Catholic Church, 
which owns Fermoy House, to progress these places smoothly through the 
assessment and registration process.
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4.3 Government Heritage Property Disposal Process

The State Government is the largest single owner of heritage places in Western Australia and sets the standard for observing good 
heritage management and conservation practice. Currently, 39 per cent of all places in the State Register are owned by State 
Government.

The purpose of the Government Heritage Property Disposal 
Process (GHPDP) is to identify and assess the heritage value of 
State Government property under consideration for disposal, and 
to provide relevant protection where appropriate. Disposal includes 
the demolition, sale, transfer or lease of a property out of the State 
Government sector (the transfer or lease must be for at least 10 
years). 

The policy applies to all State government agencies and 
organisations listed in Schedule 1 of the Financial Management 
Act 2006, and Government Trading Enterprises. These agencies 
are required to notify the Heritage Council if they intend to dispose 
of or demolish a property which is: 

 ■ more than 60 years old
 ■ listed on an existing heritage list such as a local government 

inventory 
 ■ displays other evidence of potential heritage significance. 

Agencies are asked to notify the Heritage Council of the proposed 
disposal at least four months before taking action. 

This year, 39 places were referred to the Heritage Council through 
the GHPDP and had a preliminary review. Of these, none were 
identified as warranting full assessment for possible entry in the 
State Register. 

Two full heritage assessments were undertaken by government 
agencies as a result of previous GHPDP referrals.

To assist government agencies with referrals under GHPDP, the 
State Heritage Office developed the GHPDP Toolkit, available as a 
hard copy manual or via a dedicated section on the website. Since 
the launch of the toolkit in July 2011 and the series of associated 
talks to government agencies, there has been a significant 
increase in awareness and compliance with the requirements of 
GHPDP. 
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Government Heritage Property Disposal Process continued

Bull Pen Shelter Shed and Archaeological Deposits, Broome (1902-07)
A 14m x 10m open shed located in the middle of Broome Regional 
Prison represents an element of the dark histories of colonisation and the 
incarceration of Aboriginal people in the North West.
The Bull Pen Shelter Shed, until recently used as the prison’s gym, was 
built in 1902 as a secure day time holding area for Aboriginal prisoners. 
Essentially just a cage with a roof, the shelter was entered in the State 
Register in September 2013 with the full support of the Department of 
Corrective Services.
In December 2010, Corrective Services referred the Bull Pen Shelter Shed 
to the Heritage Council in preparation for the prison’s closure in 2015. 
Following the completion of an assessment of the place in the broader 
context of the Broome Regional Prison site, the Heritage Council’s Register 
Committee determined that the prison would not reach the threshold for 
entry in the State Register, but recognised the significance of the prison’s 
Bull Pen Shelter Shed.
 The Bull Pen Shelter Shed is the only structure remaining from the 
1894-1907 establishment of the prison, and is likely to contain rare 
archaeological material relating to the prison’s early days. It represents the 
continuous use of the site for the incarceration of prisoners in the North 
West since 1894. 
The Bull Pen Shelter Shed is one of only two such prison facilities in WA of 
similar design dating from the early 1900s, constructed specifically to hold 
Aboriginal prisoners. The other is the old Derby gaol.
It was built to take into account the climate, the understanding that 
Aboriginal prisoners coped better with incarceration when contained with 
their kinsmen in the open air, and the security needs of the prison. The 
origins of the term ‘Bull Pen’ are unclear and it probably developed as a 
colloquial term due to its use and open design.

The heritage listing secures the Bull Pen Shelter Shed’s future and ensures 
planning for the site takes into account this century-old holding cell that 
represents an element of the often antagonistic relationship between 
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people in the North West at the time.
The Bull Pen Shelter Shed attracted media attention in Broome whilst 
it was going through stakeholder consultation. State Heritage Office 
Executive Director Graeme Gammie spoke to ABC radio about the shelter 
shed and the interview is available on our website. 
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4.4 Development of Heritage Places

The Heritage Council provides advice to local governments and other decision-making authorities on changes or development to 
State Registered places, prior to works being undertaken. 

Owners and their consultants are also encouraged to seek input 
from the State Heritage Office Development team at the early 
stages of their project when working on a State Registered place. 
Discussions at this stage can identify potential impacts on the 
heritage values of the place, and find acceptable ways of reducing 
or mitigating any negative elements. 

The heritage values may include building fabric that tells of the 
story of a place, such as the type of material it was constructed 
from or decorative elements, as well as the setting and landscape. 
These elements together paint a picture of when the place was 
constructed and its purpose, the people who lived or used the 
spaces and their general way of life, the economic circumstances 
and scientific or technical innovations, as well as the broader story 
of the aspirations, cultural norms and values of our community at 
the time. More information about developing heritage places can 
be found on our website.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office work together 
with owners and the heritage industry to encourage sensitive 
development and new compatible uses of heritage places because 
this is the best way of assuring their future.

The Heritage Council has authorised the State Heritage Office 
to deal with the majority of development proposals under a 
delegation framework. 

Major and sensitive developments are dealt with by the Heritage 
Council or its Development Committee.

Whilst it is not a statutory requirement, the Heritage Council, 
through the State Heritage Office, also provides advice on 
development proposals for places that are on the Heritage 
Council’s assessment program for possible inclusion in the State 
Register. 

Development Referrals 

A total of 877 development referrals were determined during the 
year, with 91 per cent being dealt with by the State Heritage Office.

Almost 90 per cent of development referrals were processed 
within 30 days. This is a nearly 5 per cent increase on last year and 
is attributable to improved referral processes and the development 
of policy frameworks that provide clarity to owners and the 
industry. Early discussions with stakeholders about their proposed 
development plans also ensures that less officer time is required to 
deal with formal referrals.

The number of development referrals remains high with a slight 
increase of 7 per cent on last year. This increase is attributed to 
the positive trend in the building industry. It is also encouraging to 
see more places on the assessment program being referred to the 
Heritage Council. This ensures that any development is sensitive 
to the heritage significance of the place, regardless of whether the 
place is eventually State heritage listed or not. 
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Development of Heritage Places continued

The following graphs provide a breakdown of development 
referrals by type, region, referral processing times and delegation. 
In previous years, the development referral table in the Annual 
Report included planning referrals but did not include referrals 
received but not determined from the prior year. This year, the 
planning referrals have been separated and are now contained 
within the Local Government Services Program section, and the 
development referral figures now include all referrals determined  
in 2013/14. 
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Referrals by regions
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Referrals by delegation
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Major projects

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office were actively 
involved in a number of major metropolitan projects, including:

 ■ Old Treasury Building (Government Central Offices), Perth 
 ■ Elizabeth Quay, Perth
 ■ Fremantle Prison, Fremantle
 ■ Midland Railway Workshops, Midland
 ■ Swanbourne Hospital Conservation Area, Mt Claremont
 ■ Sunset Hospital, Dalkeith
 ■ ABC Sound Broadcasting and Television Studios, Perth

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office were also involved 
in several key projects in regional Western Australia:

 ■ Original Railway Station, Geraldton
 ■ District Medical Officer’s Quarters, Port Hedland
 ■ Katanning Roller Flour Mill, Katanning
 ■ Cunderdin Airfield, Cunderdin
 ■ Albany Forts, Mount Clarence
 ■ Stirling Terrace Precinct, Albany
 ■ OTC Satellite Earth Station (fmr), Brown Range
 ■ Boulder Town Hall & Offices, Boulder
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Determinations inconsistent with Heritage Council advice

Proposals that may affect a State Registered place are referred 
to the Heritage Council under the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act. Section 11 of the Act requires a decision-making authority 
to determine proposals consistent with Heritage Council advice 
unless the decision-making authority determines there is no 
feasible and prudent alternative. This may result in an approval that 
is inconsistent with Heritage Council advice. While this is allowed 
for within the Heritage Act, such a determination would generally 
result in a negative heritage outcome. Instances are therefore 
recorded within the Annual Report and form part of the Heritage 
Council’s key performance indicators. 

In 2013/14, no decision-making authority has advised that it has 
made a determination that is not consistent with the Heritage 
Council’s advice.

Projects 

The State Heritage Office continued to update and review its 
procedures and processes to improve efficiency and effectiveness. 
A particular focus this year was to create a framework for the 
consolidation and review of practice notes and policies on specific 
building materials or themes. This identified a number of policy 
areas that needed further guidance to provide consistent decision-
making and clarity for owners and industry, as well as highlighting 
those policies or guidelines that are due for review. 

 ■ Colour selection for heritage places can be highly subjective 
and, as such, is often debated. A policy for paint type 
and colour is currently being developed with the aim of 
seeking consensus on a standard approach based on 
Burra Charter principles, while allowing for creativity and 
flexibility that encourages the celebration of heritage 
places. The Burra Charter defines the basic principles 
to be followed when heritage places are undergoing 
conservation or adaptation. A draft version of the paint and 
colour policy has been approved by the Heritage Council’s 
Development Committee and is in consultation with industry 
representatives. 

 ■ Developed last year, the Policy for Corrugated Metal Roofs 

had its first substantial use as the basis for a number of roof 
replacement projects funded under the 2013/14 Heritage 
Grants Program. This provided an opportunity to test the 
principles within active projects and generated informative 
discussion. As a result, the Heritage Council’s Development 
Committee confirmed that the practice of using galvanised 
sheeting in short lengths was more than just an aesthetic 
response and gave a greater integrity to a conservation 
outcome.
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Development of Heritage Places continued

Old Treasury Building (Central Government Offices), Perth (1874-1904)
Associated with government activities since the foundation of the 
colony, the Old Treasury Building complex is being reborn as an exciting 
mixed-use development incorporating a boutique hotel, offices, shops, 
restaurant and cafes. 
Formally known as Central Government Offices, it was the largest 
government complex built in Australia at the time. The interior of the 
GPO entry lobby and postal hall, the Titles Office’s vestibule and stairs, 
and most of the basements are highly significant. The complex has 
been vacant for 17 years.

While site work commenced in August 2012, the Heritage Council 
and State Heritage Office had been working behind the scenes with 
developers to ensure the redevelopment would be sympathetic to the 
buildings’ heritage. 
In September 2011, the Heritage Council supported the formal 
proposal to refurbish the Old Treasury Building and Land Titles Building 
into a mixed-use development, incorporating a new office tower and 
four-level annex building.
It included substantial conservation works to the original 1893 
Cathedral Avenue entrance, which will become the main entry to the 
boutique hotel, and the original public access from St Georges Terrace 
into the postal hall reinstated as a showpiece of the redevelopment.
Other development occurring in the complex included the demolition 
of the Law Chambers Building, the refurbishment of the Public Trustee 
Building, and a new landscaped urban Cathedral Square.
State Heritage officers and, when necessary, the Development 
Committee have dealt with a range of details and amendments to 
the original proposal, with all works guided by 18 separate Heritage 
Impact Statements to ensure changes are sympathetic to the buildings’ 
heritage fabric. This includes restoration of the façades, slate roofs, 
dormer windows, decorative ironwork, balconies, and reconstruction 
of basement arches. Damaged or missing elements have been 
reconstructed to original detail.
Conservation works to the roof of the Old Treasury Building, and the 
skylights and interior of the Postal Hall have received two Heritage 
Grants totaling $200,000 over two years. 
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4.5 Heritage Agreements and Regulatory Orders

Heritage Agreements

A Heritage Agreement is a legally binding contract that sets out a 
framework for the long-term conservation and maintenance of a 
place. The State Heritage Office prepared and completed 11 new 
Heritage Agreements for 10 places pursuant to section 29 of the 
Heritage of Western Australia Act, for the following places:

Place No. Place Name
1379 Kellerberrin Fire Station, Kellerberrin
2158 The New Church (fmr), East Perth
2286 District Medical Officer's Quarters (fmr), Port Hedland
2390 South Perth Police Station (fmr), South Perth
2466 Fairholme Group, Guildford *
5373 Wilyabrup Group Settlement Precinct, Wilyabrup **
14465 Lot 205, Australian Fine China, Subiaco
15851 Station Master's House, Leonora
16781 Round House, Mt Barker
23997 House, 9 William Street, York ***

*    Two Heritage Agreements were completed for separate 
structures in this place.

**     This place is not on the State Register but is recognised 
as being significant to the Busselton district. The Heritage 
Agreement is between the City of Busselton and the owner.

***     This place is not on the State Register but is in the current 
assessment program.

There are currently 104 Heritage Agreements for 98 places, of 
which 91 places are entered in the State Register. Some places 
are covered by more than one Heritage Agreement because the 
place includes two or more separate structures that are each the 
subject of a Heritage Agreement.

The 2012/13 Annual Report indicated that there were 94 Heritage 
Agreements in place, however, a review of all Heritage Agreements 
this year revealed that an older Heritage Agreement from the 
1990s was invalid. 

The State Heritage Office provides assistance to local 
governments in the preparation of Heritage Agreements for 
places of local heritage significance that are not in the State 
Register, as permitted under section 29(2)(c) of the Heritage of 
Western Australia Act. The Heritage Council is not a party to 
these agreements. Rather, these agreements are between local 
governments and property owners only. In the past year, the 
State Heritage Office assisted the City of Busselton to prepare a 
Heritage Agreement for the Wilyabrup Group Settlement Precinct.

Regulatory Orders

Under section 59 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, 
the Heritage Minister may issue an order to provide special 
protection for a place.

 ■ A ‘Conservation Order’ is an on-going protective order that 
remains in effect indefinitely, unless an end-date is specified. 
It requires public consultation before the Minister may issue it.

 ■ A ‘Stop Work Order’ is a protective order that automatically 
expires after 42 days. It does not require public consultation.

 ■ A ‘Consent Order’ is a protective order that only requires 
the owner’s consent. It remains in effect for as long as the 
owner agrees. It does not require public consultation.

No orders were issued this year.
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4.6 Assistance for Heritage Property Owners

Cygnet Cinema, Como (1938)
For more than 75 years, Perth movie-goers 
have been enjoying the ambience of the stylish 
Cygnet Cinema.
Throughout the years, the Cygnet survived 
through the advent of television and suburban 
multiplex cinemas. But it was the decision by 
movie distributors to phase out reel-to-reel film 
that almost spelt the end of this family-owned 
cinema.
Thanks to a $100,000 grant from the 2013/14 
Heritage Grants Program, the ongoing viability 
of one of Perth’s remaining 1930s cinemas has 
been assured.
The grant will assist in upgrading the electrical 
wiring and fire prevention system, which allowed 
the owners, the Stiles family, to continue their 
efforts on migrating to digital technology.
The Stiles’ father, James Stiles, was a cinema 
pioneer who established the Grand Theatre 
Company and commissioned the construction of 
a number of cinemas, including the Cygnet.
Originally named the Como Theatre, the Cygnet 
was the first purpose-built sound cinema in the 
suburbs immediately south of the city. Built in 
1938 by cinema architect William Leighton in 
the Inter-War functionalist style, it is the most 
authentic suburban cinema still in operation in 
WA from this era. 

Leighton’s contribution to cinema design was 
revolutionary, with a focus on designing functional 
contemporary buildings that often included 
symbols of the 20th century machine age such 
as cars and ships.
The Cygnet incorporates nautical features 
including the curved tower, tubular handrails 
and port-hole windows that represent an ocean 
liner’s bow.

The announcement of the successful recipients 
of the 2013/14 Heritage Grants Program was 
held at the Cygnet in December. Heritage 
Minister, the Hon Albert Jacob MLA, who 
announced the grants, said the survival of the 
Cygnet Cinema through the past 75 years is 
testament to the passion and commitment of  
the Stiles family.

Photos:  Photographer Darren Smith,  
Acorn Photography
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

One of the key objectives of the Heritage Council is to promote 
the sound conservation, successful adaptation and harmonious 
development of Western Australia’s heritage places. 

One way in which this objective can be achieved is by providing 
or facilitating incentives for owners of State Registered heritage 
places to undertake conservation works or conservation planning 
activities. Since 1997, the Heritage Council has offered funding 
to private owners of State Registered heritage places for 
Conservation Management Plans and conservation works through 
the Heritage Grants Program. The Council also administers the 
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund and assists the WA Local 
Government Association in the administration of the Heritage Loan 
Subsidy Scheme.

Heritage Grants Program 

The Heritage Grants Program assists private owners of State 
Registered heritage places by offering grants of up to $100,000 
on a matched dollar-for-dollar basis for urgent conservation 
works and the preparation of Conservation Management Plans 
or Strategies. Since the program began in 1996/97, 647 heritage 
projects have been awarded grants totalling more than $14.5 
million. 

In March 2012, the State Government announced that the 
2012/13 Heritage Grants Program would be increased by 25 per 
cent, with an additional $1.046million allocated over four years. 
This was the first increase in the program since its inception in 
1996/97.

The first year of the funding increase saw 20 projects awarded 
funding totaling $1.25million, which contributed to more than 
$3million in conservation works around the State.

In this second year of increased funding, the 2013/14 Heritage 
Grants Program saw 24 State Registered places, including 13 
metropolitan and 11 regional places, awarded $1.26million in 
funding, which supported conservation works to the value of 
$10million. You can read more about these projects on the State 
Heritage website. 

Normally, not-for-profit organisations are ineligible to apply for 
the Heritage Grants Program because they can apply for funding 
through Lotterywest, which runs a complimentary funding program 
for conservation works. However a review of Lotterywest’s policy 
has identified a potential gap in funding for groups that have a 
conscientious objection to receiving funds derived from gambling 
activities or their projects are not funded because they do not 
demonstrate a significant community benefit. This year, the 
Heritage Council resolved to accept two applications from religious 
groups that demonstrated they had a conscientious objection to 
receiving Lotterywest funding. 

During the year, 22 projects were completed with $1.04million in 
funding released to both completed and on-going projects. Of the 
completed projects, 19 were from previous years’ grants and three 
were from the 2013/14 Heritage Grants Program.
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

Heritage Grants Program projects completed this year 
include:

St Catherine’s Anglican Church, Greenough (1914)

An integral part of the Historic Greenough Hamlet, St Catherine’s 
is an excellent example of a stone church built in the Federation 
Gothic style and is representative of community churches built 
through Western Australia at the time. 

The $34,070 heritage grant assisted in repairing rendering, 
cracked walls and installation of a damp course. This will ensure 
the church remains a vital part of the community for future 
generations, just as it has for the past 100 years.

Mine Manager’s House, Wiluna (1929)

The Mine Manager’s House was awarded $100,000 to assist 
with restoration works to this 1929 mud block and timber framed 
residence. The residence, leased by exploration company Toro 
Energy, is one of only two mine manager’s residences of the same 
or earlier eras still existing in Australia.

After high winds tore through the area in 2010 causing the house 
to lose its roof and sustain severe structural damage, the building’s 
condition deteriorated. The heritage grant assisted the owners 
to rectify this damage and to undertake restoration work. This 
included ensuring the house’s structural integrity, the cleaning 
of the roof cavity, installing tie-downs, fitting roof mesh and 
reinstating three chimneys.

This grant has ensured that a tangible reminder of Wiluna’s 
early gold mining history was not lost and can continue to be 
celebrated. The building has been restored for community use 
including the provision of an information centre and a central 
meeting place.

Postal Hall – Old Treasury Building (Central Government 
Offices), Perth (1874-1904)

An ornately detailed and intact internal space within the Old Treasury 
Building complex, the Postal Hall received $100,000 to refurbish the 
skylights, repair the roof and upgrade the stormwater system.

Formally known as Central Government Offices, it comprises a 
collection of buildings that date from 1874 and is the largest intact 
complex of its type built in Australia at the time. The complex is 
being redeveloped into a boutique-style hotel and retail centre.

The Postal Hall was designed by Chief Architect George Temple- 
Poole and officially opened in 1890 as the colony’s first General 
Post Office. The Postal Hall is a majestic interior space, but the 
age and degraded condition of the tiled roof and skylights put it at 
high risk of damage from water ingress. 



3 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    3 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heading

3 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    3 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

Gwambygine Farm and Pool, Gwambygine (1836-37)

The 176-year-old Gwambygine homestead, one of the few 
Western Australian homesteads that can date sections of its 
construction back to the 1830s, received $18,000 to treat rising 
damp, rectify rendered walls and to reinstate missing sections of 
the barn roof.

Located on the banks of the Avon River, this working farm was 
built by the sons of Colonial Chaplain Rev. John Wittenoom and 
experienced farmer Thomas Carter. As well as being a highly 
productive farming property for its time, it was also a popular 
venue for social events and tennis tournaments. Today, volunteers 
run the homestead and visitors to York can view this property first 
hand when it is opened to the public on the second Saturday of 
each month from April to October.

Royal King’s Park Tennis Club, Perth (1899, 1965)

The Royal King’s Park Tennis Club received $100,000 to undertake 
conservation works to the Members’ and McGibbon Stands. This 
included repairing and replacing termite damaged timber, fixing the 
roof and repairing structural cracks.

Constructed more than 100 years ago, the Cape Dutch style 
of the spectator stands are rare in this State. The stands were 
built for the Western Australian Lawn Tennis Association so that 
Western Australia could participate in international competitions, 
and it achieved just that. In 1928, a full range of international 
tennis events were held at King’s Park, including the Davis 
Cup, Federation Cup, World Veteran Championships and State 
Championships. Today, it forms part of the Next Generation Health 
Club.

Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued
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Heritage Grants Program Allocations 2013/14
Applicant Place No Place Name Awarded in 

2013/14
Mr DR & Mrs JA Yates 395 Bond Store and Magistrate's Office (fmr), Busselton  $10,764.60 

Mr RS & Mrs JL Norgard 17290 Septimus Burt Boatshed 41 - Freshwater Bay Boatsheds, 
Peppermint Grove  $100,000.00 

Mr GP & Mrs CE Black 767 Norseman Post Office, Norseman  $20,000.00 
CJ Anderson, NM Crossing & CJ Stiles 2404 Cygnet Cinema, Como  $100,000.00 
Scots Presbyterian Church 1009 Scots Presbyterian Church, Fremantle  $63,700.00 
The Trustee for the Reid Property Trust 2877 York Primary School, York  $67,519.09 
Bridgetown Enterprises Pty Ltd 248 Freemasons Hotel, Bridgetown  $86,136.36 
The Weld Club 1950 The Weld Club, Perth  $100,000.00 
Dome Coffees Australia 2286 District Medical Officer's Quarters (fmr), Port Hedland  $100,000.00 
London Court Pty Ltd 1998 London Court, Perth  $100,000.00 
Amelia Correira Holdings Pty Ltd 951 Fremantle Post Office, Fremantle  $100,000.00 
FJM Property 1973 Old Treasury Buildings - Postal Hall, Perth  $100,000.00 
Mr NDC Dillon 3680 Macaulay House, Cottesloe  $15,026.75 
The Trustees of the Diocese of North 
West Australia 1611 St. Catherine's Anglican Church, Greenough  $34,070.00 

Mr A Gianatti & Ms Y Tomita 386 Villa Carlotta, Busselton  $10,000.00 
Mrs E Lee 11381 23 Kelly Street (Pemberton Mill Worker's Precinct), Pemberton  $15,799.00 
Mr R & Mrs N Martin 13900 Belay Farm Group, Walkaway  $8,535.21 
Mr A & Mrs T Alps 17150 Tudor Lodge, Mount Lawley  $29,856.20 
Ms PS Cullen 11381 14 Karri Rise (Pemberton Mill Worker's Precinct), Pemberton  $23,520.00 
Mr G Kitto 2024 Parker & Parker - Commercial Building 21 Howard Street, Perth  $4,750.00 
Ms H Schairer 18772 22 Pakenham Street, Fremantle  $70,802.50 
Mr M Cross 3228 Swanbourne Hospital Heritage Conservation Area, Swanbourne  $10,872.00 
Primeking Pty Ltd 14922 Drew Robinson Building, Albany  $68,500.00 
Mr JCW Ardley 8894 Model Brick House, Floreat  $19,150.00 
    Total  $1,259,001.71 
See Appendices I and II for Heritage Grants Program variations.

Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

Additional assistance to owners 

On occasion, the State Heritage Office provides special assistance 
to private owners of State Registered places for urgent professional 
advice or works. The assistance is provided in situations that do not 
fit within the normal Heritage Grants Program but are considered by 
the Heritage Council to warrant financial support.

Three projects were funded this year:
 ■ The State Heritage Office commissioned Conservation 

Management Strategies (CMS) for 10 Kelly Street, 
Pemberton, and Sandilands, Busselton. 

Kelly Street is part of the Pemberton Timber Mill Workers’ 
Cottages Precinct, a rare collection of relatively intact timber 
mill workers cottages built between 1913 and 1951, and 
Sandilands is a 1840s wattle and daub homestead, one of 
the oldest existing structures in the region.

In both cases, the owners had applied for funding through 
the Heritage Grants Program. However, it was felt that 
the owners needed guidance to identify and undertake a 
scheme of urgent works. As well as commissioning a CMS, 
funding was also provided for a heritage consultant to work 
with both owners.

Conservation Management Strategies are a good property 
management tool because they provide tailored practical 
information to assist owners. It includes a Building Condition 
Assessment Report, which outlines the current condition of 
the property, and a schedule of works for urgent repairs and 
future maintenance. Whilst Conservation Management Plans 

(CMPs) incorporate the same practical advice, they are 
more comprehensive and provide detailed information on 
the building’s history and its significant heritage elements, 
as well as identifying opportunities and constraints for future 
adaptation and development.

With Kelly Street, the CMS identified a broad scheme of 
urgent repairs to the timber building to make it habitable. 
These repairs are progressing well and it is estimated the 
total project cost will be $41,000.

With Sandilands, the CMS identified as a priority the repair 
and replacement of the ancient electrical system. This 
urgent work was completed with an allocation of $33,000.

These two cases required an approach that was more 
flexible than the standard Heritage Grants Program and a 
timely response that met the owner’s circumstances and 
immediate needs. Funding was sourced from surplus funds 
from previous years’ grant programs where projects had 
been completed under budget or did not proceed.

 ■ The 1860s Maley’s Mill in Greenough suffered a catastrophic 
fire in October 2013. Much of the steam driven flour mill was 
lost. Without insurance, the owners were unable to make 
early repairs and were unclear on how best to stabilise the 
ruins. The State Heritage Office funded and arranged for 
a structural engineer with extensive heritage experience to 
visit the site and produce a report for the owners. This will 
inform further repair and stabilisation once the owners have 
determined a means of financing the works.
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme

The WA Local Government Association (WALGA), in partnership 
with local governments and the Heritage Council, operates 
a Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme, which offers a 4 per cent 
subsidy on the interest paid on loans established to undertake 
conservation works. The Heritage Council provides ongoing 
administrative support and has previously assisted in building up 
the capital value of the fund, with periodic payments of $35,000. 
However, there has been little demand on the fund and the top-up 
has been removed from the annual budget.

With annual applications at minimal levels, WALGA and the 
Heritage Council are in the process of investigating alternative 
incentive schemes that will make more effective use of the 
available capital fund.

inContact with heritage specialists

In June 2013, inContact, a new online directory of heritage 
specialists, was opened for businesses to list their services.

The directory puts owners, State agencies, local governments, 
and other stakeholders in contact with businesses that provide 
specialist heritage services. inContact is easy to use by the general 
public not familiar with heritage terms by allowing them to search 
by profession, service provided, region and business name. 

It provides a glossary of professions and the services they provide, 
a handy checklist offering tips and suggestions to engaging a 
heritage business, and information on adapting heritage places. 

inContact was developed by the Heritage Council and the State 
Heritage Office following a review of the previous Directory 
of Heritage Consultants, which existed as a PDF document 
downloadable from the website. 

From the start of this year, inContact has been promoted to the 
general public and other stakeholders through the media, and 
Heritage Matters eNewsletter and magazine. The directory has 
proved to be very popular with more than 70 businesses now 
listed and the website attracting more than 2,200 visits this year.

During the year, the State Heritage Office worked to ready the 
directory for expansion to include builders and trades. These 
businesses will be invited to list their services on inContact next 
year. Additional categories and improved search functions will also 
be released next year.

State Government heritage commitments

The Heritage Council, through the State Heritage Office, 
administers funding committed by the State Government for 
heritage specific projects. These projects are usually allocated their 
own funds and are therefore managed outside the Heritage Grants 
Program. As a general rule, these funding commitments are not 
on-going.

Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund

Following a magnitude 5.0 earthquake in the Kalgoorlie-Boulder 
area on 20 April 2010, the Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier 
of Western Australia, announced $5million in funding to assist 
owners of damaged properties with repairs to their heritage listed 
buildings.
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

At the request of the Premier, and the then Minister for Heritage, 
Hon G M (John) Castrilli MLA, the State Heritage Office developed 
an operating framework for the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration 
Fund. The funding was offered through four grant streams:

 ■ Emergency Relief Grants provided owners with assistance 
with the cost of minor immediate repairs to make the 
building safe.

 ■ Earthquake Restoration Grants provided assistance to 
owners to return a heritage building to its condition prior to 
the earthquake, where costs were not met by an insurer. 
Owners were required to make a substantial contribution.

 ■ The Conservation Improvement Program allowed for grants 
of up to $250,000 to undertake additional works and 
required a financial contribution from the owner.

 ■ The Preferred Work Grant provided funding where a 
heritage architect appointed by the Heritage Council 
recommends work to improve the heritage outcome.

The expressions of interest for these funding streams closed in 2011. 

Progress of works

This year, five more works projects were completed, bringing the 
total number of completed projects to 56. The completed projects 
include the Gala Tavern, Court Hotel, Goldfields Group Hotel, 
former Lake View Hotel, and the Queen’s Methodist Church. 

A further seven projects are on-going. One of these relates to 
damage sustained in the 2010 earthquake, with the remainder 
being restoration work funded through the Conservation 
Improvement Program stream. 

A total of $721,000 in funds were released during the year. There 
were three new commitments totalling $572,000 this year.

In total, 80 per cent of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration 
Fund has now been allocated, with a final major project nearing 
agreement. This work will see the rescue of a State Registered 
building that was substantially damaged in the earthquake, 
with activity to date being hampered by a complex legal case 
to determine insurance liabilities. It is anticipated that most of 
the remaining Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Funds will be 
distributed by the end of June 2015, with final works completed 
soon after.

Further details of the commitments and variations to grants during 
the year can be found in Appendices IV and V.

The standing allocations at the end of the year are as follows:

Category
Committed 

Amount 
 $’000

Emergency Relief Grants 62
Earthquake Restoration Grants 928
Conservation Improvement 
Program Grants 2,491

Preferred Work Grants 14
Administrative costs 250
Professional services 250
Committed funds 3,995
Uncommitted funds 1,005
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Assistance for Heritage Property Owners continued

Queen’s Methodist Church, 38 Piesse Street, 
Boulder (1903)
The Queen’s Methodist Church in Boulder is one of five 
conservation projects completed this year, with the assistance 
of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund.
The Queen’s Methodist was the first brick church built in 
Boulder and its bold simplistic design, unusual for gothic 
revival churches at the time, had made it a much loved local 
landmark. So much so, that when the church closed in 1975, 
the then local Member of Parliament purchased it to save it 
from demolition. Sold again, the building fell into disrepair in 
the 1990s, galvanizing the local community to petition the City 
to take action. In 1994, new owners restored the church and 
adapted it into residential apartments.
The church sustained damage to its two-storey gabled façade 
during the 2010 earthquake. The building insurance covered 
the repair of the damage as a direct result of the earthquake, 
however, during the assessment process, the structural 
engineer’s report identified significant rising damp issues 
throughout the building.
To resolve this problem, a Conservation Improvement Program 
grant of $41,665 was provided to assist the owners with 
treating rising damp throughout the building and to reinstate 
the render. These were important conservation works carried 
out in tandem with the earthquake repairs, reducing overall 
costs. All works were completed in March 2014. Funding 
provided through the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund 
has ensured that this State Registered building, so highly 
valued by the local community, will continue to shine as an 
important element of the local streetscape and a physical 
reminder of the Eastern Goldfields’ fascinating history. 



4 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4 4    Annual  Report  2013/144 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4 4    Annual  Report  2013/14

4.7 Heritage Works

On 5 May 2014, the Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier of Western Australia, announced the creation of Australia’s first dedicated 
revolving fund for heritage buildings.

In a pre-Budget announcement , the Premier said $4million would 
be allocated in the State Budget over two years to establish the 
program.

Known as Heritage Works, the revolving fund aims to revitalise 
vacant and under-utilised State or local government owned 
heritage properties through conservation and adaptive reuse, and 
deliver the best possible financial returns through the sale or lease 
of heritage places. 

Heritage Works will prioritise publicly-owned buildings that are 
redundant, but have the potential to be used productively for 
new uses outside the public sector, bringing vibrant community 
engagement. Currently, 39 per cent of all places on the State 
Register are owned by State Government.

New uses could include accommodation, bars, restaurants, art 
galleries, retail and other commercial premises.

Heritage Works will be financially self-sustaining. Proceeds from 
the sale or lease of properties will fund future projects. 

The first priority for the program will be the revitalisation of the 
Fremantle Warders Cottages, built in the 1850s to house prison 
warders at Fremantle Prison, and more recently used as public 
housing. 

Heritage Works will demonstrate the economic, social and 
environmental benefits of adaptive reuse, and attract private 
investment in heritage projects by offering improved certainty 
about constraints and opportunities, including the condition of a 
place, and options for adaptation.

Revolving funds for heritage preservation have been extensively 
employed in the United States and the United Kingdom since 
the 1970s, bridging a gap between heritage conservation and 
real estate. Revolving funds are also a successful vehicle for 
environmental goals, including nature conservation, water quality 
and energy efficiencies.

While revolving funds do exist for nature conservation in Australia, 
Western Australia is the first place where the State Government 
has established a revolving fund for heritage.

Among the services provided by Heritage Works are feasibility 
analysis; conservation planning and works; financial support 
(where required); project management; Government Heritage 
Property Disposal Process support; and marketing and sales 
support.

The announcement of the revolving fund follows a year of business 
planning and preparatory work arising from the announcement 
of the Revolving Fund as a Government policy commitment in 
January 2013. 
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Heritage Works continued

Apart from the Warders Cottages, the preparatory work provides 
the new program with a number of projects ready to be followed 
through next year including:

 ■ No. 2 Substation, Murray St, Perth (1915)
Located in King Street Heritage Precinct, the former two-
storey 1915 electrical substation has remained vacant since 
its closure in 1991.

In 2013, Heritage Works undertook extensive analysis of 
the conservation and remediation needs of the site, as 
well as valuation and an asset disposal strategy, on behalf 
of Western Power. Conservation and remediation work is 
estimated to begin next year in preparation for its future 
reactivation and reuse.

 ■ Coogee Hotel and Post Office, Coogee (1898)
A former beachside ‘honeymoon hotel’, the 116-year-
old Coogee Hotel and Post Office also operated as a 
children’s holiday camp during the depression and then as 
a permanent children’s home after World War II. In recent 
decades, the site has suffered ‘planning blight’ because of 
its location next to Cockburn Road.

Work has commenced on a feasibility study on behalf of the 
owner, Main Roads Western Australia. The study will look at 
future use, required conservation works, opportunities for 
new construction on the site, asset value, and the best way 
of addressing planning and development constraints. 

 ■ Exchange Hotel, Pinjarra (1870s, 1920s, 1960s)
Located in the Pinjarra town centre and backing on to the 
Murray River, the Exchange Hotel has remained vacant 
since its closure in 2008. It consists of three buildings 
interlocked with numerous additions constructed in the 
1870s, the 1920s and the 1960s. It was acquired by the 
Shire of Murray in 2011.

Heritage Works is assisting the Shire in planning a new 
future for the site. Work-to-date indicates potential for an 
exciting heritage-based development in the main street, 
creating both a commercial activation and a civic amenity 
with a river connection. Next year, Heritage Works aims to 
assist the Shire of Murray with the next phase of the project, 
including preparation of the site for expressions of interest.
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Heritage Works continued

Warders’ Cottages (1851-1858), Fremantle
The first priority project for the Heritage Works is the 
Warders’ Cottages in Fremantle, closely associated with the 
World Heritage listed Fremantle Prison, and an important 
part of the Fremantle CBD. 
Fremantle’s Warders’ Cottages present a unique challenge 
to adapt these convict-built terraces for contemporary uses.
The State heritage-listed cottages were built more than 
150-years-ago to house prison warders employed at the 
Convict Establishment, now known as the World Heritage-
listed Fremantle Prison.
Located in the Henderson Street Mall in front of the 
Fremantle Markets, the cottages are a highly visible and 
important part of Fremantle.
The three sets of terrace housing, occupying 3,544 square 
metres, continued to be used by warders up until the Prison’s 
closure in 1991. The cottages were then purchased by the 
Department of Housing for public housing. In 2011, the 
Department of Housing determined that the cottages were no 
longer suitable for its tenants. 
Of the $4 million allocated to Heritage Works, $2 million will 
be dedicated to the revitalising of the Warders’ Cottages.
In line with an Economic Expenditure and Reform Committee 
decision made in April 2014, discussions are underway with 
the Department of Housing about future ownership of the 
Cottages being transferred to the State Heritage Office. The 
Warders’ Cottages will then effectively become an asset of 
the Revolving Fund.

Right: Warders’ Cottages, Fremantle. Darren Smith, Acorn Photography
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4.8 Supporting Local Governments

Local Government Services

The objective of the Local Government Services branch is to 
support the work of local governments in identifying and protecting 
local heritage places, and providing input for broader strategic 
planning.

Local governments are integral to the management of heritage 
issues for the wider community. They contribute to the increase 
in the community’s understanding and conservation of local 
heritage through the identification of heritage places in municipal 
inventories, adoption of policies and strategies under a local 
planning scheme, and celebration of heritage through trails and 
walks, open days and other community activities.

Local government support in heritage matters is critical to 
recognising places that are important to their communities and 
sensitively managing change.

Local Government Services branch provides support to local 
governments in the form of advice, education and workshops, 
guidelines, online resources, and submissions and advice on local 
planning issues. 

Branch representatives also attended the various Western 
Australian Local Government Association zone meetings, which 
provide high level access to local government representatives. 
This year, the branch promoted inHerit, the online heritage places 
database; the introduction of the new Heritage Advisory Service 
Subsidy; and training opportunities such as the annual Heritage 
Planning and Management Seminar.

Heritage in urban planning

Under section 79 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, 
amendments to local planning schemes are referred to the 
Heritage Council for advice.

The State Heritage Office also makes submissions on any urban 
planning proposal that has the potential to impact on the State’s 
heritage places.

This year, the Local Government Services branch provided 
statutory advice and submissions on 135 planning referrals.

The State’s Integrated Planning Framework requires local 
governments to produce Strategic Community Plans to identify 
long term visions, values, aspirations and priorities. These 
documents can be used to implement heritage strategies, which 
are part of the local government management toolkit to identify 
priority projects and work areas.



4 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heading

4 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    4 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

Supporting Local Governments continued

Planning referrals
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Regional Visits

Maintaining an understanding and awareness of heritage 
issues throughout Western Australia is important in informing 
Heritage Council advice and strategic direction. Meeting with 
local governments and their communities provides first-hand 
information, and helps to foster positive relationships with each of 
the groups and agencies that participate.

The main regional visit for the Heritage Council this year was to 
Busselton and Bunbury. This started with an event to mark the 
addition of the historic Busselton Jetty as a permanent entry in the 
State Register of Heritage Places. Representatives then moved 
on to Bunbury to meet with Mayor and Deputy Mayor to discuss 
the development and adaptive reuse of the City’s heritage places 
and the Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy. The Bunbury visit 
concluded with a tour of local precincts. 
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Supporting Local Governments continued

Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy

June 30 marked the end of the first year of operation for the new 
Heritage Advisory Services framework and the associated subsidy, 
which was offered to local governments to support up to 75 per 
cent of the costs of contracting a heritage advisor.

Of the 25 original applicants, two did not complete their subsidy 
agreements to access the subsidy during the year. Three further 
applicants completed their agreements but did not claim for any 
activity because of a lack of demand.

The Shires of Tammin, Cunderdin and Quairading took advantage 
of a shared planner to combine with York to contract and manage 
their heritage advisor, providing efficiencies in managing the service 
and in use of travel time. 

One further local government, Dardanup, sought to join the 
subsidy scheme later in the year and was allocated funding in 
December, although the service was not taken up until March 
2014. 

While initial spending estimates identified potential claims for 
subsidy at around $125,000 there was generally less demand 
than local governments had anticipated, or allowed for. The overall 
claim for subsidy funds in 2013/14 was therefore $84,095.95.

Following a review of the first year of the new program 
arrangements, the subsidy agreement has now been revised 
to require each local government to submit a claim and invoice 
each quarter, rather than waiting until the end of the financial year. 
This process improvement is intended to increase the visibility of 
advisor activity and encourage a higher level of outputs without 
imposing onerous reporting requirements on local governments.
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Supporting Local Governments continued

Local Governments receiving a Heritage Advisory Service Subsidy

Local Government Agreed Funding Actual Expenditure % of total 
service cost

Albany $10,000 $8,524.47 50%
Bridgetown-Greenbushes $5,250 0** 50%
Bunbury $10,000 $8,661.37 50%
Busselton $7,000 $6,363.64 50%
Capel $2,376 $2,160.00 75%
Chapman Valley $6,750 $647.00 75%
Cue $2,201 $2,001.78 75%
Geraldton $10,000 $10,000.00 50%
Goomalling $2,500 $667.50 50%
Irwin $6,000 $2,862.01 50%
Kalgoorlie-Boulder $10,000 $6,632.50 50%
Katanning $2,000 0* 50%
Leonora $5,000 $5,000.00 50%
Manjimup $6,750 $5,975.76 50%
Murray $4,050 $456.95 50%
Northam $3,240 0** 50%
Northampton $5,250 $3,141.82 50%
Roebourne $10,000 0* 75%
Sandstone $2,201 0** 75%
Toodyay $2,000 $6,746.25 50%
Yalgoo $2,201 $2,001.78 75%
York, Cunderdin Tammin & Quairading $9,390 $9,253.45 75%
Dardanup $3,000 $3,000.00*** 75%

$124,159 $84,095.95

*  Applied but did not return agreement

**  Did not spend allocation

***  Late applicant, part year funded
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4.9 Strategic Projects 

inHerit – opening the doors to heritage 

inHerit is an online database, launched in July 2012, that brings together information on more than 23,000 State and local heritage 
places in WA with many entries featuring descriptive information, images, spatial mapping and street view functions.

It is the first time that local government heritage lists have been 
available centrally online, with local governments having the ability 
to create, edit and publish their records about heritage places. 

inHerit was built by the State Heritage Office with assistance from 
the City of Fremantle and Lotterywest. It was developed following 
stakeholder consultations that highlighted the need for an online 
presence for local government listings because most were kept in 
book form and were underutilised and highly inaccessible.

Since its launch, inHerit has proved extremely popular. This year, 
inHerit attracted more than 66,000 visits, now known as sessions, 
involving nearly 40,000 individual users viewing more than 296,000 
individual pages. inHerit is the most popular page on the State 
Heritage website and far exceeds the 47,300 visits made to the 
general website. 

Whilst accurate mapping was available on all places included 
in the State Register of Heritage Places, this has now been 
expanded to all places protected under the Heritage of Western 
Australia Act 1990, including those places with Heritage 
Agreements and Conservation Orders, as well as places the 
Heritage Council has identified as warranting assessment for 
the State Register. This mapping has been linked to Landgate’s 
Property Interest Report service, launched in 2013. More detail 
about the State Heritage Office’s involvement in the Property 
Interest Report is contained in the following section.

A key area of ongoing activity is to ensure that mapping of local 
government municipal inventory places is complete and accurate. 

To accelerate this complex task and bring forward the completion 
of the heritage mapping layer, the State Heritage Office has been 
provided with assistance from Landgate. Nearly 60 per cent of the 
20,000 places on municipal inventories have now been mapped. 
This work will continue next year with a focus on the metropolitan 
area where there is the highest demand for data in Landgate’s 
Property Interest Report service.

Work also continued this year on improving functionality and 
search mechanisms based on user feedback on the service. Initial 
planning has started on making inHerit more accessible from 
mobile phones and tablets with website statistics showing 20 per 
cent of visitors are accessing it from these devices.

Property Interest Report 

This year, the State Heritage Office worked with Landgate to 
provide information for and to promote the new Landgate Property 
Interest Report service.

The Property Interest Report, launched in October, is a 
comprehensive report that provides easy access to information 
on government interests over land. It brings together information 
from more than 40 different government agencies, which manage 
more than 50 interests that may impact on the use or enjoyment of 
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Strategic Projects  continued

a property, and includes information that may not be listed on the 
Certificate of Title. The report can be assessed online from Landgate. 

The State Heritage Office has expanded the information it 
previously provided to Landgate. In addition to details about 
places in the State Register, and those with Conservation Orders, 
it also now includes information on whether the place is on the 
Heritage Council’s assessment program for possible inclusion in 
the State Register or has a Heritage Agreement. 

The State Heritage Office, in conjunction with Landgate and local 
governments, is now working on providing information on places 
contained in local government municipal inventories. 

With all State heritage interests now being provided to Landgate, 
the State Heritage Office no longer provides members of the 
property industry with written responses to inquiries about heritage 
interests. This has produced considerable savings and the number 
of register inquiries has dropped from 169 last year to 54 this year. 

General members of the public can still find out if their place is 
heritage listed through our online database, inHerit.

New Heritage Act

In his opening speech to State Parliament in February 2014, the 
Hon Colin Barnett MLA, Premier of Western Australia committed 
to introduce a new Heritage Bill. 

The State Heritage Office is currently working with the 
Parliamentary Counsel on drafting the Bill.

The draft Bill will reflect the findings of the two rounds of public 
consultation undertaken in 2011 by the State Heritage Office, on 
behalf of the Heritage Council, and the Government’s election 
commitment to deliver modern legislation that is open, transparent, 
simple to operate and understand, and that reflects best practice 
in the recognition and protection of heritage places.

Heritage and the State Planning Strategy 2050

In February 2013, the Heritage Council approved a submission 
to the review of the State Planning Strategy, which was in public 
consultation at that time. The submission called for an increased 
number of ‘clear and positive statements’ on the protection of the 
State’s heritage, to reinforce the more general recognition given 
to cultural heritage within the original draft. During the year, the 
Heritage Council met further with the Department of Planning, and 
State Heritage Office staff took part in a planning sector forum on 
the implementation of the final strategy.
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Strategic Projects  continued

Formally released in June, the State Planning Strategy 2050 now 
includes a number of key statements that will ensure heritage is 
recognised in the planning system. These include:

 ■ The Vision: In 2050, the diversity of Western Australia’s 
natural assets and unique landscapes, ecosystems, 
peoples, enterprises, cultural landscapes and historic 
heritage places will be celebrated, protected and recognised 
as an important contributor to sustained prosperity.

 ■ The Principles: Community growth and betterment can be 
achieved while retaining a community’s sense of identity and 
its history through the identification and conservation of its 
historic heritage places, and through the telling of Western 
Australia’s stories on stage and screen.

 ■ Strategic Goal 3 – Sustainable Communities: Adaptation of 
buildings for new uses makes an important contribution to 
sustainable communities. It both limits the requirement for 
new materials and reduces the amount of demolition waste. 
Adaptive reuse of heritage buildings also provides continuity 
for the community and helps to maintain its identity in the 
face of ongoing change. 

Representation on Committees 

In its role as the State Government’s advisory authority on heritage 
and its responsibilities under the Heritage of Western Australia 
Act 1990, the Heritage Council and, through delegation, the State 
Heritage Office, provide advice to various government agencies 
and are involved in a number of committees relating to heritage.

Typically these relate to planning reforms and outcomes, 
conservation and adaptation of heritage places, and assistance to 
owners of heritage places. 

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office are represented 
on the following committees: 

 ■ Central Perth Planning Committee: a sub-committee of the 
Western Australian Planning Commission to oversee and 
provide direction for planning in the Perth central area. 

 ■ State Planning Strategy 2050: providing a submission to the 
State Planning Strategy in relation to heritage. 

 ■ Sunset Steering Committee: advisory body to establish the 
Sunset Transformation Strategy.

 ■ Sunset Transformation Committee: a committee overseeing 
the transformation of the largely disused heritage-listed site 
into a community centre.

 ■ Fremantle Prison Advisory Committee: providing advice on 
the on-going conservation of this World Heritage-listed site.

 ■ Heritage Loan Subsidy Scheme Board: to provide 
assistance to owners of State Registered places through a 
subsidy on interest rates on loans for conservation works.

 ■ Western Australian Museum Maritime Archaeology Advisory 
Committee: advisory committee to WA Museum CEO on 
proposals relating to shipwrecks and other underwater 
cultural heritage.
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Strategic Projects  continued

In addition, the Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office 
are represented on the Heritage Chairs and Officials of Australia 
New Zealand, which works on co-operative projects and shares 
expertise and experience to enhance and improve heritage 
management practice across all jurisdictions. 

Heritage Council Plaques Program

The Heritage Council has reintroduced its heritage plaques 
program to recognise and celebrate places that are entered in the 
State Register of Heritage Places.

The plaques will play a pivotal role in telling the stories surrounding 
State Registered places, promoting heritage tourism and 
encouraging community engagement with our heritage places. 

The plaques program was launched at the 2014 WA Heritage 
Awards, with 20 places chosen to receive them including 
Busselton Jetty, Government House, His Majesty’s Theatre, 
Fremantle’s Round House and four WA Heritage Award winning 
projects. The places receiving plaques were chosen by the 
Heritage Council based on their significance, high visibility and 
prominent location.

The stainless steel plaques are individually tailored to the place and 
include the following information:

 ■ the State Registered place name 
 ■ a summary of its Statement of Significance
 ■ State Registered place number. 

These plaques replace the previous brass version which consisted 
of the Heritage Council name and logo.

About 20 plaques will be produced and issued annually, to take 
advantage of economies of scale. While the Heritage Council 
will continue to decide which places will receive plaques, it will 
take into account requests from individual owners. Next year, the 
plaques will focus on prominent locations in regional Western 
Australia.

To supplement the physical plaques, a virtual plaque for use 
on the websites has also been developed and is available for 
owners of State Registered places. The virtual plaques are based 
on the WA Heritage Awards’ virtual logos provided to finalists, 
high commendation recipients and winners. These have proven 
very popular with recipients using them on their websites and 
embedded in their emails, thus assisting in promoting the WA 
Heritage Awards.
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Strategic Projects  continued

Core business system

The State Heritage Office is nearing completion of the replacement 
of its core heritage business system. The current system is out-
dated, difficult to support, and no longer meets the needs of the 
agency or the stakeholders that rely on access to heritage place 
information. 

The new core heritage business system is due for release by 
the end of 2014. The system will be a single secure repository 
for heritage place information, and will allow the agency to 
better deliver timely information to meet the growing needs of 
stakeholders including owners, State and local governments, 
historical groups, and the real estate, development and 
construction industries. 

Work on this complex project commenced in 2012. In conjunction 
with this, the agency is working to implement an electronic records 
management system which will increase efficiencies and reduce 
both the future costs and risks associated with maintaining hard 
copy archives. 
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4.10 Education, Training and Promotion 

Education and Training 

The Heritage Council has recognised there is a shortage of people 
with skills and knowledge in heritage conservation and planning. 
This presents challenges for the whole sector: property owners, 
the State Heritage Office, and local and State Government.

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office are working 
towards the implementation of a new education program that will:

 ■ Promote consistency and high standards in local 
governments’ heritage identification and listing practices

 ■ Build capacity in heritage planning and management in local 
and State government agencies

 ■ Develop awareness of opportunities and mechanisms for 
reviving heritage places subject to disuse and neglect

 ■ Improve the availability of information about the sustainability 
and economic benefits of heritage conservation

 ■ Promote improved heritage training and education 
opportunities in Western Australia.

The education and training program will be focussed around local 
government, but the capacity to work through partners and third 
parties to deliver training, and to use education to bring wider 
awareness and understanding to owners, developers and other 
stakeholders, will be built into the system.

The program will supplement the ongoing training provided by the 
State Heritage Office, which is offered in a range of forms such as 
presentations, workshops, seminars and discussions. 

A key new initiative took a step closer with the delivery of a new 
online learning module. This is a concept that was developed 
around the State Heritage Office publication ‘Guide to Developing 
Heritage Places’ and offers a self-guided exploration of heritage 
concepts and practice. A selection of modules will be developed 
to allow further user input and consultation on the best way to 
deliver online training and learning opportunities. 

Heritage Management and Planning Seminar

The Heritage Planning and Management Seminar is the main 
training and development activity run each year by the Heritage 
Council. 

It is targeted towards local government and aims to attract 
both officers and elected members, although there is increasing 
participation from the private sector and wider community.

This year provided an opportunity to share the commemorative 
activities focussed around Albany for the departure of the first 
convoy taking troops to battle in the First World War in 1914. The 
City of Albany hosted the event and provided the venue, although 
this was the more modern civic centre rather than the historic 
Town Hall. Year on year participation has increased and, despite 
the regional location, around 60 delegates took part, with around 
one third of these presenting at the seminar.

Dome Coffees Australia Chief Executive Officer Nigel Oakey 
gave an enthusiastic opening presentation and once again 
demonstrated his passion for heritage. Taking the theme of 
‘Celebrating Heritage’, delegates were guided through a wide 
range of presentations by Master of Ceremonies and military 
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historian Robert Mitchell. Technical and theoretical subject matter 
was broken up by the inclusion of personal stories from a number 
of local owners who each came to share their experiences and 
enjoyment of their own heritage place. 

Delegates took the opportunity to participate in a number of site 
visits, with walking tours that took in the Town Hall, Stirling Terrace 
and Amity Precinct; and an informative and entertaining visit to the 
Princess Royal Fortress and Mount Clarence, which included the 
firing of one of the historic cannons. The seminar concluded with a 
guided tour of the National Trust’s Old Farm Strawberry Hill, including 
a talk from Harley Coyne on the Aboriginal significance of the site.

New Approaches to a Historic Challenge: e-Heritage Seminar

In December, the State Heritage Office conducted a seminar 
on using new technology to explore innovative approaches to 
interpretation and audience participation. Called ‘New Approaches 
to a Historic Challenge: eHeritage Seminar’, it builds upon the 
growing popularity of smart phone apps, social media and cloud-
based technologies as a way of delivering interactive heritage 
experiences.

The one-day free seminar was attended by 65 people. The 
delegates were mostly local government officers from library, 
museum and community development areas. The State Library 
was also well presented and there was a strong community 
representation through the attendance of, and presentation by, 
members of community museums, heritage groups and similar 
organisations. The majority of delegates were from the Perth 
metropolitan area, though a number of attendees came from as far 
afield as Broome and Roebourne.

Speakers were invited to talk on topics that were considered to be 
relevant to the day’s theme, and were encouraged to explore how 
technologies are practically applied to the delivery of information to 
an ever growing range of heritage audiences.

Student internships

Another way that the State Heritage Office seeks to increase the 
skill-base of the heritage industry is through student internships.

During the year, five student interns from four of Western 
Australia’s universities undertook the following diverse projects: 

 ■ A Comparison of Topographic Data Sets Available in WA 
(using heritage places as examples) - Department of Spatial 
Sciences, Curtin University

 ■ Private maternity hospitals in Western Australia: An Overview 
– School of Arts and Sciences, University of Notre Dame

 ■ Raymond Jones Architecture 1957-1967 – Faculty of Arts, 
University of Western Australia

 ■ Provision of Housing by the State in Western Australia, 
1945-1956 – School of Business, Edith Cowan University

 ■ State Heritage Office Workforce and Diversity Plan – School 
of Business, Edith Cowan University

The students mostly worked from the State Heritage Office 
premises and provided presentations to staff. Four students were 
supervised by the Assessment and Registration Branch and the 
fifth was supervised by the Business Services Branch.
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Promotion 

Under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990, the Heritage 
Council is responsible for promoting public awareness of our 
cultural heritage.

The State Heritage Office undertakes these functions on behalf of 
the Heritage Council through a range of public and media events, 
marketing and publications, and other promotional activities.

2014 Western Australian Heritage Awards

The Heritage Council’s Western Australian Heritage Awards is the 
premier event in Western Australia’s heritage calendar.

The awards were established in 1992 by the Heritage Council 
to acknowledge the outstanding contribution of individuals and 
organisations to heritage in Western Australia.

It showcases excellence in revitalising heritage places, setting 
standards for future interpretation, conservation and adaptive 
reuse of places on the State Register of Heritage Places. It also 
recognises those individuals and organisations that have been 
instrumental in elevating the value of heritage, securing its place in 
the future development of Western Australia.

The awards are used to promote heritage success stories through 
the media and stakeholder internal and external publications, 
and to engage with heritage owners and other stakeholders such 
as heritage professionals, local governments, heritage tourism 
operators, and community groups.

It is now being used to showcase WA heritage projects in the 
Asia-Pacific region following cooperation between the Heritage 

Council and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural 
Organisation (UNESCO). 

In 2012, an agreement was reached that Heritage Award 
conservation winners and high commendation recipients would 
be shortlisted for nomination, with Heritage Council endorsement, 
for the UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation. The awards recognise excellent achievement 
in successfully conserving or restoring heritage buildings and 
properties in the region. Award winners span a wide range 
of conservation projects from private residences to palace 
complexes, serving as a catalyst and source of inspiration for 
private individuals and institutions in conserving cultural heritage 
throughout the region.

This year, the Sailmaker’s Shed in Broome won the UNESCO 
Award of Honourable Mention. It is the second win in the 
two years of the agreement with Northbridge’s William Street 
Revitalisation Project receiving an Honourable Mention in 2012. 
This is an excellent result for the promotion of heritage on an 
international stage.

The 2014 Western Australian Heritage Awards was held on 3 April 
at His Majesty’s Theatre, Perth and was attended by 300 guests, 
including award finalists.

Of the 56 finalists, 22 individuals, organisations and outstanding 
heritage projects were honoured from Albany to Shark Bay.

With the awards now almost seen in WA as the precursor to 
the UNESCO’s Asia-Pacific Awards, the bar has been set so 
high that the judges decided not to award winners in some 
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categories. While the judges were impressed by the number of 
strong nominations, they were not always able to pick a clear 
winner for being ‘outstanding’. This only serves to confirm the 
value of a Western Australian heritage award. Measures to address 
this issue will be investigated as part of the annual review of the 
Heritage Awards.

Regional projects dominated the 2014 Heritage Awards, with 12 
projects and individuals honoured across 11 categories, illustrating 
the importance communities placed on revitalising and celebrating 
their heritage.

Two Feet & a Heartbeat won the prestigious Judges’ Award, only 
the second time this award has been presented. This is the fourth 
consecutive win by the walking tour group in as many years.

In addition, five of the award winners have all been shortlisted for 
nomination at the 2014 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Awards for Cultural 
Heritage Conservation. These are Old York Primary School, 
Rottnest Island WWII Defence Establishment, Earlsferry, Cape 
Inscription Lighthouse Keepers’ Quarters and One40william.

The Heritage Awards received extensive media coverage in 
regional and community newspapers as well as Channel 9, The 
West Australian, Sunday Times, ABC Radio, 6PR Nightline and 
The Way We Were. In total, there were 71 media articles and 
interviews on the award finalists and winners, equating to an 
advertising space rate of $133,853 and reaching a cumulative 
audience of 2.79million people. This was a big increase on 
last year’s coverage which achieved an advertising space 
rate of $42,211 and a cumulative audience of 1.74million 
people. Promotion of the WA Heritage Awards is a key driver in 
encouraging visitors to the State Heritage website, with statistics 
showing the highest number of new visitors to the website occurs 
after the announcement of the Award winners. 
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Former Sailmaker’s Shed, Broome (1907)
The restoration of a historic Broome shed that was saved from demolition 
has received a 2013 UNESCO Asia-Pacific Award for Cultural Heritage 
Conservation.
The Sailmaker’s Shed beat strong competition from 16 countries to win 
UNESCO’s Award of Honourable Mention, WA’s second consecutive 
UNESCO award following an agreement to shortlist WA Heritage Award 
conservation winners and high commendation recipients for their awards.
The UNESCO judges said: “the project has not only saved a unique 
heritage asset but has reinvigorated a sense of local pride among the 
Broome community.”
The single-storey corrugated iron shed is one of the last remaining 
buildings associated with the town’s golden era of pearling between 1900 
and 1913. The building had been vacant since 2004 and had fallen into 
disrepair, was badly affected by termites, and earmarked for demolition.
The Heritage Council worked with the Broome Historical Society and the 
building’s owners, Water Corporation, to save the building from demolition. 
The Water Corporation agreed to lease the building to the Historical 
Society for a ‘peppercorn’ rent so that it could be used for administrative 
and display purposes.
With funding from the Royalties for Regions Scheme and Lotterywest, 
the Water Corporation and the Broome Historical Society embarked on a 
comprehensive restoration project, enabling the unique cultural legacy of 
the State’s pearling heritage to continue to be told. 
The project received a high commendation at the 2013 Western Australian 
Heritage Awards, and along with other award winners, was shortlisted for 
the prestigious UNESCO international awards. 
In announcing the UNESCO win, Heritage Minister Albert Jacob said: “It 
is a great example of State Government and the local community working 
together to save and restore this important piece of Broome’s pearling 
heritage,” he said.

“The shed is small but its legacy as one of the last remaining buildings 
associated with the local pearling industry is extremely significant to the WA 
community.”
“This work puts WA heritage on the world stage and it’s a platform to 
promote and celebrate our State’s heritage stories in the Asia-Pacific 
region.”
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The 2014 Western Australian Heritage Awards winners and high 
commendations were:

Outstanding contribution to heritage by an individual

Winner: Loretta Wright, Oakabella Homestead, Northampton

Outstanding contribution to heritage by a professional in the 
heritage industry

Winner: Richard Offen, Heritage Perth

Outstanding contribution to heritage by a community-based 
organisation

High commendation: Art Deco Society of Western Australia

High commendation: York Residency Museum, York

Outstanding contribution to heritage by a public or private 
organisation

High commendation: Rottnest Island Authority, Rottnest Island

Outstanding heritage practices by a local government

Winner: City of Greater Geraldton

High commendation: City of Perth

High commendation: Shire of Leonora

Outstanding conservation of a residential place

High commendation: Earlsferry, Bassendean

Outstanding conservation of a non-residential place

Winner: Rottnest Island WWII Defence Establishment, Rottnest 
Island

High commendation: Cape Inscription Lighthouse Keepers’ 
Quarters, Shark Bay

High commendation: York Post Office, York

Outstanding interpretation project that enhances a place

Winner: Fremantle Arts Centre, Fremantle

High commendation: Lynton Convict Hiring Depot, Northampton

High commendation: Five Exhibition, Fremantle Prison, Fremantle

Outstanding heritage tourism product

Winner: ‘Kulin Open Doors’ and ‘Kulin By Night’, Kulin

High commendation: Discovery Bay Historic Whaling Station, 
Albany

Excellence in adaptive reuse: The Gerry Gauntlett Award

Winner: one40william development, Perth

High commendation: Old York Primary School, York

The Professor David Dolan Award

Winner: Weerianna Street Media, Roebourne

High commendation: Sun City Guest House, Geraldton

Judges’ Award

Winner: Two Feet & a Heartbeat
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Revitalising the heritage heart of Perth’s CBD – one40william 
The one40william project in William Street is 
an outstanding example of how adapting and 
reusing heritage buildings can help re-define 
and revitalise a space, and was a worthy 
winner of this year’s Excellence in adaptive 
reuse: The Gerry Gauntlett award.
While the huge project included a retail arcade 
and the two commercial office towers, the 
heritage aspect of the project involved the 
redevelopment of several derelict late-Victorian 
and Inter-War commercial buildings on the 
State Registered William and Wellington Street 
precinct, including the Bairds Building, the 
old Globe Hotel, Wellington building and the 
Mitchell Building.
Before the project started in 2007, many of 
the buildings were in poor condition from 
years of inadequate maintenance and random 
conversion to changing retail requirements.
“With the Bairds Building and the Globe, you 
had layer upon layer of internal fit outs, for 
instance, a suspended ceiling hiding another 
suspended ceiling above and so on,” said 
heritage architect Anne-Marie Treweeke, of 
Lovell Chen Heritage Consultants.
“This layering was actually informative 
because when the bare walls and the ceilings 
were revealed, we found a lot of the original 
fabric including pressed metal was still there 

and the original wall configurations of the 
rooms could be discerned.” 
She said a key goal with the project was to 
retain and reinstate as much of the original 
fabric as possible.
“Our approach is you have to understand 
what the original building was; you have 
to understand the intent of the original 
architect and go back to the original bones 
of the building and work from there to 
sympathetically integrate the new,” she said. 
“Throughout, we had a lot of negotiation 
with the builder and the Heritage Council 
to make sure we were being faithful to the 
heritage agreement that had been put in place 
while delivering a successful contemporary 
outcome.”
The adaptation of the heritage buildings 
provides office and retail accommodation 
that meet modern requirements. The State 
Heritage Office and Office of the Government 
Architect are currently housed in the Bairds 
Building.
The judges said the landmark conservation 
and adaptive reuse project realises the 
full potential of the site in revitalising and 
resuscitating the heritage heart of Perth’s 
CBD, and paves the way for the eventual 
reconnection of the city and Northbridge.

Aerial view of the one40william project  
Photograph supplied by CBus Property
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Heritage Matters magazine, eNewsletter and Twitter

The State Heritage Office produced its first annual Heritage 
Matters magazine to celebrate Western Australian heritage.

The glossy 56-page magazine showcases the stories behind the 
WA Heritage Award winners and high commendation recipients, 
the Heritage Grants Program projects, and all places entered in the 
State Register of Heritage Places on an interim or permanent basis 
during the financial year.

The magazine has five objectives: to promote successful 
conservation and adaptation projects; to illustrate the variety of 
projects receiving funding through the Heritage Grants Program; to 
explain the significance of and why places are included in the State 
Register; to celebrate the work of the WA Heritage Award winners; 
and to inform stakeholders of the work undertaken by the State 
Heritage Office and the Heritage Council.

This high quality magazine acts as a keepsake for owners of newly 
registered places and Heritage Award winners, and is the type 
of product that has a long ‘shelf life’ and which stakeholders are 
happy to promote to a wider audience.

The magazine was published in September 2013 and was sent to 
owners of State Registered places, local and State governments, 
WA Heritage Award recipients, and was distributed at key 
seminars and events.

The magazine compliments the electronic Heritage Matters 
eNewsletter that is distributed via email. The eNewsletter is 
published monthly and contains a mix of news items including 

new additions to the State Register of Heritage Places, and 
heritage seminars, events and incentives. The eNewsletter is also 
used to further relationships with industry partners, such as local 
governments and membership groups, by promoting their news 
and events. Launched in January 2013, the eNewsletter has 
proved very popular and is distributed to 830 subscribers.

In June 2014, the State Heritage Office also launched a Twitter 
account, as our first foray into social media. 

The State Heritage Office investigated a variety of social media 
platforms with the aim to:

 ■ Effectively inform and engage with stakeholders through 
social media that allows two way communication

 ■ Raise awareness of new registrations, Heritage Grants 
Program, Western Australian Heritage Awards and other 
projects and initiatives by sharing through social media

 ■ Be open, honest, accountable and transparent when 
engaging with stakeholders.

Twitter was chosen as the most suitable platform because of its 
rise in popularity and its immediacy. It allows for crisp and targeted 
communication by restricting word count to just 140 characters. 
Tweets can be made about media releases (new registrations, 
Heritage Grants Program, WA Heritage Awards and any programs, 
initiatives, seminars and events). It can also alert stakeholders 
on new uploads to the website, such as radio interviews. Re-
tweets on other heritage events/initiatives by heritage/tourism 
organisations will increase collaborative working relationships with 
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external organisations. There are about 2.5million Twitter users in 
Australia with statistics showing it is more popular in the 25-54 age 
bracket than Facebook.

The State Heritage Office’s Twitter handle is @StateHeritage. The 
Office issued its first tweet - ‘Hundreds of years in the making; our 
#firsttweet. Our Heritage - What makes us Western Australian’ - 
on 23 June 2014. This was followed by three more tweets which 
promoted the registration of the Western Australian Bank (fmr) in 
Kalgoorlie, Heritage Matters eNewsletter and an external history 
quiz, and resulted in 1086 views, 17 retweets and 11 people 
linking through to the website.

The launch of the State Heritage Office’s Twitter presence was 
accompanied by an internal social media policy and presentation 
to all staff. This policy provides clear and consistent guidelines for 
staff use of approved media sites and platforms. 

State Heritage website 

The State Heritage website is a prime vehicle for information and 
to promote the work of the Heritage Council and State Heritage 
Office. This year, the main website attracted more than 47,300 
visits, or sessions, with a further 66,000 visits to inHerit and 2,200 
to the inContact databases, totaling 115,500 visits or sessions.

Work is now nearing completion to make the website ‘W3C 
2.0 Accessibility’ compliant to the AAA-rating level. Future 
development on the website will also be set to this level of website 
accessibility compliance. Achieving this compliance ensures that 
all visitors to the website will be able to access content, and that 
content is optimised for visitors using assistance tools such as 
screen-readers. 

Other activities

The State Heritage Office continued to develop strong relationships 
with the media and delivered a pro-active media program that 
resulted in extensive exposure throughout the year. 

Highlights include:
 ■ a regular segment on 6PR’s The Way We Were
 ■ prime time television coverage of the Heritage Award High 

Commendation recipient Earlsferry, the Cygnet Cinema, 
which received Heritage Grants Program funding, and the 
launch of the Heritage Revolving Fund. 

The State Heritage Office continued to partner and develop 
relationships with organisations from the heritage and cultural 
heritage sector; tourism; local government; and State government 
agencies and authorities to raise awareness of and to promote 
heritage. This included promoting events, seminars and award 
programs through the Heritage Matters eNewsletter, and 
assistance with media inquiries.

Heritage Tourism

The Heritage Council and the State Heritage Office continued 
to promote heritage tourism as outlined in the Heritage Tourism 
Strategy. 

The Office aimed to raise the profile of heritage tourism as a viable 
niche market and, through visitations, to promote the ongoing 
conservation of WA’s built heritage.
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During the year, partnerships were maintained with the Tourism 
Council WA, the Forum Advocating Cultural and Ecotourism 
(FACET), Heritage Perth, Museums Australia (WA) and the Young 
Australian Tourism Association to assist in achieving these goals. 

The State Heritage Office also supported and promoted the 
Australian Government initiated Australian Heritage Week and the 
National Trust’s Western Australian Heritage Festival.

The Heritage Council’s Plaques Program was also reintroduced 
and is detailed in the Strategic Project section. 

Highlights include:
 ■ reintroduction of the Plaques Program
 ■ sponsorship of the Tourism Council Western Australian 

Tourism Awards
 ■ in-kind sponsorship of the Museums Australia (WA) State 

Conference
 ■ sponsorship of Heritage Perth Days
 ■ sponsorship of Open House Perth
 ■ ongoing inclusion of heritage tourism category in the 

Western Australian Heritage Awards, which highlighted 
outstanding heritage tourism products in the WA market.

4.11 Ministerial Support
The management of heritage properties continues to be an 
important issue within the community. The State Heritage Office 
and the Heritage Council play an important role in providing advice 
and information to the State Government and the Minister for 
Heritage.

During the year, the State Heritage Office received and 
completed 202 requests from the Minister for Heritage for briefing 
notes, advice on parliamentary questions, and draft replies to 
correspondence.
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Two Feet & a Heartbeat
Over the past few years, the guided walking tour company Two Feet & a 
Heartbeat has made great strides in raising heritage awareness – and has 
picked up many awards along the way.
The company won the Professor David Dolan award in 2011 at the WA 
Heritage Awards, and the Most Outstanding Heritage Tourism Product for 
the past two years.
Now the Two Feet team has also won the prestigious 2014 Judges Award.
Two Feet & a Heartbeat is a privately owned company that started in 2007 
and provides guided tours of Perth and Fremantle throughout the year, 
focusing on themes such as pre-European settlement, the founding of the 
Swan River Colony and WA’s gold booms, as well as its Eat/Drink/Walk 
Perth tour.
More recently, the company expanded its operations to Sydney, where it 
conducts tours of The Rocks, Kings Cross and the Sydney CBD.
Its tours focus more on introducing walkers to the sights, sounds and tales 
of a city’s culture in a fun, relaxed way rather than the old-fashioned style of 
“this building was built in …”
The tours are renowned for being informative, well-researched and for 
passing on stories that generally aren’t found in guide books, as well as 
‘behind the scenes’ access to numerous heritage-listed buildings.
As one relative newcomer to Perth said, after taking a Two Feet tour: “Perth 
always comes across as a modern city but we were shown otherwise with 
interesting heritage buildings and stories.”
As well as the tours, the principals of Two Feet, Ryan Zaknich and Ryan 
Mossny, actively support the heritage tourism industry. 
The pair works with Federal, State and local tourism-related bodies such 
Experience Perth, Heritage Perth, Perth Convention Bureau and the 
Fremantle Tourism Association.

They also take part in leadership and industry forums, as well as lecturing 
at Challenger Institute of Technology and Edith Cowan University.
Two Feet also works with many local governments to help develop heritage 
tourism services for cities and towns such as Bunbury, Manjimup, Vincent 
and Perth.
Later this year, they will be inducted into the WA Tourism Hall for Fame for 
their outstanding achievements over the past three years.
At the awards night, the judges paid tribute to Two Feet’s relentless 
enthusiasm and passion in being advocates for heritage tourism.
“Two Feet & a Heartbeat has a sustained and proven track record in offering 
a highly-successful heritage tourism product which engages a broad 
audience, expanding from Perth and Fremantle to Sydney,” they said.

ABOVE: Two Feet & a Heartbeat at Brookfield Place, Perth
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5.0 Significant Issues Impacting the Agency

The strength of the Western Australian economy and a fast growing population drives an ever increasing demand for new 
solutions to our State’s infrastructure, housing and construction needs, much of which is focused in areas of historic development. 
This remains the case despite some ‘softening’ in the WA economy from the peak of 2012/13.

This dynamic and fast changing environment sees governments 
at all levels responding through the review and development 
of policies, strategies and plans that address the current and 
foreseeable needs of our communities. This is responsible 
and positive but can present risks where heritage is seen 
predominantly as a constraint, or its real contribution to social, 
economic and environmental sustainability, and the community’s 
quality of life is not sufficiently recognised, or realised.

The State Cultural Heritage Policy, the first of its kind in Western 
Australia, was adopted by the State Government in February 
2011. The Policy observes that all government agencies and 
local governments have a responsibility in recognising, promoting 
and protecting our cultural heritage. This provides a framework 
for the Heritage Council to promote the inclusion of heritage 
considerations as an integral component of key planning strategies 
and processes. 

In February 2013, the Government also announced a policy 
commitment to establish a Heritage Revolving Fund to activate 
underutilised or idle State or local government heritage property 
through conservation and adaptive reuse. The Government set 
aside $4million over 2 years in the 2014/15 State Budget to initiate 
this Australian first program.

These policies recognise that conservation and use of historic 
places contributes to the character and identity of Western 
Australia, and maintains a sense of place and belonging that is so 
important to the health and well-being of our communities. Good 
heritage management, driven by vision and innovation in the care 
and ongoing use of heritage assets is central to achieving a sound 
balance between preservation and broader social needs.

In a State as large as WA, economic development is 
geographically uneven. Regional decline in township populations 
and infrastructure creates short and long-term challenges for 
heritage conservation, and inevitably puts the sustainability of 
some regional heritage places into question. 

Heritage places like all others must be fit for purpose, safe and 
accessible within the National Construction Code and a State-level 
statutory framework that puts an increasing focus on compliance. 
Practical strategies are needed to manage the requirements 
for compliance whilst safeguarding the fabric and spirit of our 
heritage.
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The overwhelming majority of owners are committed to the care 
of their heritage places. However, there are some that need 
encouragement do so. The most effective strategic policy mix 
includes:

 ■ incentives to maximise the activation of private co-
investment in heritage conservation

 ■ a suite of services that enables owners to get good heritage 
advice and access to heritage professionals and trades

 ■ (conversely) effective disincentives to respond to genuine 
cases of deliberate damage and neglect. 

Heritage conservation goals cannot be achieved without an 
adequate workforce of professionals and tradespeople.

There is a shortage of people with skills and knowledge in heritage 
conservation. This presents challenges for the whole sector: 
property owners, the State Heritage Office, and local and State 
Government.

Working within this environment requires contemporary legislation. 
The State Government has committed to introduce to Parliament 
a new modernised Heritage Bill that is open, transparent, is simple 
to operate and understand, and reflects best practice in the 
recognition and care of heritage. The Heritage Council will work 
closely with the Government to ensure this is delivered.

From next year, the State Heritage Office will be a stand-alone 
government department which will establish a modern and 
effective organisational framework that reflects a contemporary 
approach to government and will better meet its needs into the 
future.
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6.0 Disclosures and Legal Compliance

Financial Statements
Certification of Financial Statements

The accompanying financial statements of the Heritage Council of Western Australia (Heritage Council) have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate.

Marion Fulker 
Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

5 September 2014

Anne Arnold 
Deputy Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

5 September 2014

Christopher Johnson 
Chief Finance Officer 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

5 September 2014

Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
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7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

 

   
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
HERITAGE COUNCIL OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Heritage Council of Western 
Australia. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Council determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Council’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Council, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Heritage Council of Western Australia at  
30 June 2014 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Heritage Council of Western Australia during the 
year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Controls exercised by the Heritage Council of Western Australia are those policies and 
procedures established by the Council to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment 
of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in 
accordance with legislative provisions. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Council is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and 
other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Heritage Council of Western Australia based on my audit conducted 
in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Council complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Heritage Council of Western Australia are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Heritage Council of Western Australia for 
the year ended 30 June 2014.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Council’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Council determines necessary to ensure that the key 
performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
Independent Auditor’s Report continued
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Council’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Heritage Council of Western Australia are 
relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Council’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014 included on the 
Council’s website. The Council’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Council’s 
website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Council’s website. The 
auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks 
arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited 
financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this 
website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
DON CUNNINGHAME 
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
5 September 2014 
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
Restated (a)

Note 2014 2013
COST OF SERVICES $ $

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 3,194,701 2,926,495
Supplies and services 7 1,568,441 1,754,873
Accommodation expenses 8 505,653 565,592
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 9 1,725,423 1,301,126
Grants and subsidies - other 10 221,680 135,027
Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 135,580 133,371
Other expenses 12 56,289 70,285
Total cost of services 7,407,767 6,886,769

Income
Revenue
User charges and fees 13 23,051 26,710
Provision of services 14 - 96,250
Other revenue 15 16,389 4,267
Total revenue 39,440 127,227

Total income other than income from State Government 39,440 127,227

NET COST OF SERVICES 7,368,327 6,759,542

Income from State Government 16
Service appropriation 7,138,000 6,617,000
Services received free of charge 351,605 258,304
Total income from State Government 7,489,605 6,875,304

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 121,278 115,762

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss - -
Changes in asset revaluation surplus - -
Gains/(Losses) recognised directly in equity - -
Total other comprehensive income - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 26 121,278 115,762

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) Supplies and Services does not correspond to 2013 Financial Statements as it reflects prior year adjustments made - refer to Note 2(u).

6.2 Financial Statements
Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
Restated (a)

Note 2014 2013
ASSETS $ $
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 27 1,940,894  2,010,845 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 17, 27 3,112,155  4,105,646 
Receivables 18 118,817  73,885 
Amounts receivable for services 19 20,000  28,000 
Total Current Assets 5,191,866  6,218,376 

Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services 19 660,000  369,000 
Office equipment, computers and software 20 47,149 35,586
Intangible assets 21 1,930,342  1,284,564 
Total Non-Current Assets 2,637,491  1,689,150 

TOTAL ASSETS 7,829,357  7,907,526 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 23 333,554 616,741
Grants payable 24 1,882,921  1,852,454 
Provisions 25 473,843  422,517 
Total Current Liabilities 2,690,318 2,891,712

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 25 231,099  240,151 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 231,099  240,151 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,921,417 3,131,863

NET ASSETS 4,907,940 4,775,663

EQUITY 26
Contributed equity 1,993,450  1,982,450 
Accumulated surplus 2,914,490 2,793,213
TOTAL EQUITY 4,907,940 4,775,663

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
(a) Payables and Accumulated Surplus do not correspond to 2013 Financial Statements as they reflect prior year adjustments made - refer to Note 2(u).

Statement of Financial Position
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
Statement of Changes in Equity

Note Contributed 
equity

Reserves Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit)

Total equity

$ $ $ $
Balance at 1 July 2012 26 1,379,450 - 2,677,451 4,056,901
Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior period errors - - - -
Restated balance at 1 July 2012 1,379,450 - 2,677,451 4,056,901

Surplus/(Deficit) - Restated 2(u) - - 115,762 115,762
Other Comprehensive Income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 115,762 115,762
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 603,000 - - 603,000
Other contributions by owners - - - -
Distributions to owners - - - -

Total 603,000 - - 603,000

Balance at 30 June 2013 - Restated 2(u) 1,982,450 - 2,793,213 4,775,663

Surplus/(Deficit) - - 121,278 121,278
Other Comprehensive Income - - - -

Total comprehensive income for the period - - 121,278 121,278
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 11,000 - - 11,000
Other contributions by owners - - - -
Distributions to owners - - - -

Total 11,000 - - 11,000

Balance at 30 June 2014 1,993,450 - 2,914,490 4,907,940

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014
Statement of Cash Flows

Note 2014 2013
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT $ $
Service appropriation 6,847,000 6,473,000
Capital appropriation 11,000 603,000
Holding account drawdowns 8,000 12,000
Net cash provided by State Government 6,866,000 7,088,000
Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (3,142,796) (2,908,767)
Services and supplies (1,509,655) (1,459,974)
Accommodation (505,653) (565,592)
Grants and subsidies - grant recipients (1,694,956) (2,722,956)
Grants and subsidies - other (221,680) (135,027)
GST payments on purchases (437,398) (418,252)
Other payments (56,289) (70,285)
Receipts
Provision of services - 96,250
User charges and fees 23,051 26,710
GST receipts on sales 3,889 53,736
GST receipts from taxation authority 384,811 364,516
Other receipts 20,155 92,114
Net cash used in operating activities 27 (7,136,521) (7,647,526)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (26,885) -
Intangible assets - development costs (766,037) (640,947)
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets - -
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (792,922) (640,947)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,063,443) (1,200,473)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 6,116,491 7,316,964
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 27 5,053,049 6,116,491
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Australian Accounting Standards
General

The Heritage Council’s financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2014 have been prepared in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 
‘Australian Accounting Standards’ refers to Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard 
Board (AASB).

The Heritage Council has adopted any applicable, new and 
revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative 
dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Heritage Council cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements’. There has been no early adoption 
of Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or 
amended (but not operative) by the Heritage Council for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) General Statement

The Heritage Council is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the 
preparation of financial statements and take precedence 
over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details 
of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual 
basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
the financial statements have been consistently applied 
throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying 
accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been 
made in the process of applying the Heritage Council’s 
accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on 
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(c) Reporting Entity
The Heritage Council of Western Australia is the reporting 
entity and has no related bodies.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made 
to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires transfers in 
the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated 
by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at 
the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions.

Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity.

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than 
as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable. The following specific 
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognised for the following major business activities as 
follows:

Provision of services

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction.

Service Appropriations

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair 
value in the period in which the Heritage Council gains 
control of the appropriated funds. The Heritage Council 
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the 
amounts receivable for services (holding account) held at 
Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Heritage 
Council obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair 
value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on 
a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of 
non-current assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(f) Office equipment, computers and software

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of office equipment, computers and software costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. 
Items costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total). 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Office equipment, computers and software are initially 
recognised at cost.

For items of office equipment, computers and software 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their  
fair value at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

All items of office equipment, computers and software are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives 
in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future 
economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, 
using rates that are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives 
for each class of depreciable asset are:

Computers 3 Years
Office equipment 5 years
Software (a) 5 years

(a)  Software that is integral to the operation of related 
hardware.

(g) Intangible Assets

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more 
and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 
or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is 
expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred 
below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly  
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair 
value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated 
useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line 
basis. Intangible assets controlled by the Heritage Council 
have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

The expected useful lives for the class of intangible asset is:

Software(a)  5 Years

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related 
hardware.

Development costs

Development costs incurred for an individual project are 
carried forward when the future economic benefits can 
reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project 
costs are likely to exceed $50,000. Other development costs 
are expensed as incurred.

Computer software

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as office equipment and computers. Software that 
is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised 
as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is 
expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are 
incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development 
of an asset when they may be capitalised and amortised. 
Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during 
the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of 
maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website that can 
be reliably measured, are capitalised to the extent that they 
represent probable future economic benefits.

(h) Impairment of Assets
Plant, equipment and intangible assets are tested for any 
indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
is recognised. Where an asset measured at cost is written down 
to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down 
to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation 
decrement in other comprehensive income. As the Heritage 
Council is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances 
where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where 
the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration 
of the asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible 
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at 
the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there 
is any indication of impairment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(i) Leases
The Heritage Council holds operating leases for motor 
vehicles and office premises. Lease payments are expensed 
on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents 
the pattern of benefits derived from the leases. (See note 28 
‘Commitments’).

(j) Financial Instruments 
In addition to cash, the Heritage Council has two categories 
of financial instrument: 

 ■ Receivables; and 
 ■ Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the 
following classes:

 ■ Financial Assets
 ■ Cash and cash equivalents 
 ■ Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
 ■ Receivables
 ■ Amounts receivable for services

 ■ Financial Liabilities 
 ■ Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments 
is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost 
or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest 
rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required 
as the effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and 
cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalents) 
assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with 
original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject 
to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(l) Accrued Salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 23 ‘Payables’) represent the 
amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial 
year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the 
financial year end. The Heritage Council considers the 
carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its  
net fair value.

(m) Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)
The Heritage Council receives income from the State 
Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding 
account receivable). The holding account receivable balance, 
resulting from service appropriation funding, is accessible 
on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover 
leave entitlements and asset replacement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount less 
an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. Impairment). 
The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 
written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that the Heritage Council will not be able 
to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Heritage Council becomes obliged to make future payments 
as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled 
within 30 days.

(p) Grants Payable
Grants payable are recognised as the outstanding grant 
commitments due and payable at each reporting date. Grant 
funds are not released until grant recipient conditions are met. 

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and 
are recognised where there is a present legal, equitable or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when 
the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.

Provisions - Employee Benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in 
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Annual Leave

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within  
12 months after the end of the reporting period and is 
therefore considered to be ‘other long-term employee 
benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability 
as the Heritage Council does not have an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Long Service Leave

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts expected to 
be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration 
rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration 
is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non-salary components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
current liabilities as the Heritage Council does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave provisions 
are classified as non-current liabilities because the Heritage 
Council has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of 
the liability until the employee has completed the requisite 
years of service.

Purchased Leave

The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service 
employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. 
The provision recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) 
and other funds administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with 
legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in 
particular schemes for public employees varies according to 
commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a 
defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members 
since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 
who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the 
GSS became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees 
became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

The Heritage Council makes concurrent contributions to 
GESB or other funds on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these 
accumulation schemes extinguish the Heritage Council’s 
liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees 
who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it 
is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because 
the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made 
by the Heritage Council to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Heritage Council has no liabilities under the Pension or 
the GSS Schemes. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension 
Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable 
to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are 
funded by concurrent contributions made by the Heritage 
Council to GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the 
Pension and GSS Schemes, and is recouped by the 
Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions - Other 

Employment On-Costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation 
insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised 

separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are 
included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as 
part of the Heritage Council’s Employee benefits expense. 
The related liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs 
provision’.

(r) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income comprises employer contributions 
paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the 
GESBS, and other superannuation funds.

(s) Assets and Services Received Free of Charge or for 
Nominal Cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, 
that the Heritage Council would otherwise purchase if not 
donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the 
assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A 
corresponding expense is recognised for services received. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

(u) Prior Period Error
During the 2012/13 financial year, certain supplier invoices 
totalling $121,366 were expensed twice, though only paid 
once, resulting in this amount being carried incorrectly as a 
current liability in payables. This error was not detected until 
the roll out from the Office of Shared Services in 2013/14 
resulting in 2012/13 actuals having to be restated.

This error resulted in the restatement of the following line 
items for the year ended 30 June 2013.

 ■ Supplies and Services (expense) decreased by 
$121,366

 ■ Operating surplus for the period was increased by 
$121,366

 ■ Payables (Liability) was decreased by $121,366
 ■ Accumulated Surplus in Equity was increased by 

$121,366

Restatement of Financial Statements as a result of a correction of a previous year adjustment.

30 June 2013 Comparative year

Financial Statement Line Item / Balance Affected Note Actual 
2013 

$

Correction of 
Error Ajusted 

$

Restated Actual 
2013 

$

Statement of Comprehensive Income (Extract)

Expenses
Supplies and Services 7 1,876,239 (121,366) 1,754,873
Total cost of Services 7,008,135 (121,366) 6,886,769
Net cost of Services 6,880,908 (121,366) 6,759,542
Surplus (Deficit) for the period (5,604) 121,366 115,762

Statement of Financial Position (Extract)

Current Liabilities
Payables 23 738,107 (121,366) 616,741
Total Current Liabilities 3,013,078 (121,366) 2,891,712
Total Liabilities 3,253,229 (121,366) 3,131,863
Net Assets 4,654,297 121,366 4,775,663
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Financial Statement Line Item / Balance Affected Note Actual 
2013 

$

Correction of 
Error Ajusted 

$

Restated Actual 
2013 

$

Equity
Accumulated Surplus 26 2,671,847 121,366 2,793,213
Total Equity 4,654,297 121,366 4,775,663

Statement of Changes in Equity (Extract)

Surplus/(Deficit) 2012/13 (5,604) 121,366 115,762
Balance at 30 June 2013 4,654,297 121,366 4,775,663

3. Judgements Made by Management in Applying 
Accounting Policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. The Heritage Council 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating Lease Commitments 

The Heritage Council has entered into a lease for buildings 
for office accommodation. This lease relates to buildings of a 
temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor 
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. Accordingly, this lease has been classified as an 
operating lease.

4. Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are 
based on historical experience and various other factors 
that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long Service Leave

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating 
the Heritage Council’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
Initial Application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Heritage Council has applied the following Australian Accounting standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2013 that impacted on the Heritage Council.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures for 
assets and liabilities measured at fair value. There is no financial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making changes to the recognition, presentation and 
disclosure requirements.
The Heritage Council assessed employee leave patterns to determine whether annual leave is a short-term or other 
long-term employee benefit. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured at the 
undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards
This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling references to the Interpretations in all other Standards 
to be updated by reissuing the service Standard. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 
2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]
This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011)[AASB 1, 8, 101, 
124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14]
This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of 
issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously 
measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132]
This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity’s 
financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off 
associated with the entity’s recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity’s financial 
position. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 
1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2]
This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of 
the annual improvements process. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015 (instead of 
1 January 2013). Further amendments are also made to numerous consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 
that will now apply from 1 January 2015. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the Withdrawal of Australian Int 1039
The withdrawal of Int 1039 Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills in Australia has no financial impact for the 
Heritage Council during the reporting period and at balance date. Measurement of tax assets and liabilities continues 
to be measured in accordance with enacted or substantively enacted tax law pursuant to AASB 112.46-47.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 
7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-
7 and Int 12]
The Standard introduces a number of editorial alterations and amends the mandatory application date of Standards 
for not for profit entities accounting for interests in other entities. There is no financial impact.



8 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    8 8    Annual  Report  2013/148 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    8 8    Annual  Report  2013/148 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    8 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

8 8 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    8 8    Annual  Report  2013/14

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued
AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial 

Instruments.
Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from revisions to the Australian 
Accounting Conceptual Framework for periods ending on or after 20 December 2013. Other Parts of this Standard 
become operative in later periods. There is no financial impact for Part A of the Standard.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Heritage Council cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the Heritage Council has not applied early any of the 
following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Heritage Council. Where applicable, the Board 
plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

Int 21 Levies 1 Jan 2014
This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a government levy  
imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact for the Heritage Council at reporting date.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2018
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2018. The Heritage 
Council has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes  
to accounting treatments.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and Other Amendments.  
The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Heritage Council as it doesn’t 
impact accounting for related bodies and the Heritage Council has no interests in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces 
new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement that exists, which are more aligned to the 
actual rights and obligations of the parties to the arrangement.
Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. 
There is no financial impact for the Heritage Council as the new standard continues to require the 
recognition of the Heritage Council’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the unincorporated joint 
operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes disclosure requirements in AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 
131 Interests in Joint Ventures. Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 
2012-10. There is no financial impact.
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for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, removing the consolidation requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining 
accounting and disclosure requirements for the preparation of separate financial statements. 
Mandatory application was deferred by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is 
no financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 Jan 2014
This Standard, issued in August 2011 supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of clarifications for the accounting treatments of changed ownership interest.
Mandatory application was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The adoption of 
the new Standard has no financial impact for the Heritage Council as it does not hold investments in 
associates and the accounting treatments for joint operations is consistent with current practice.

AASB 1031 Materiality 1 Jan 2014
This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010), removing Australian guidance on materiality 
that is not available in IFRSs and refers to other Australian pronouncements that contain guidance on 
materiality. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 1 Jul 2014
This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the financial statements of not for profit 
entities within the General Government Sector. The Heritage Council will be required to disclose 
additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances between actual and budgeted 
amounts, though there is no financial impact.
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for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 
102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 12]

1 Jan 2015

[modified by AASB 2010-7]

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 
and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2015

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The Heritage Council has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issue of AASB 10, AASB  
11, AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and  
Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to annual reporting period beginning on or  
after 1 January 2014. The Heritage Council has analysed the suite of Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards and determined that no financial impact arises from adopting the  
various Standards.
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for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates continued

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities [AASB 132]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address inconsistencies identified in 
applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement systems may be considered equivalent to 
net settlement.
The Heritage Council does not routinely hold financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to 
settle on a net basis, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets. 1 Jan 2014
This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and Continuation 
of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard permits the continuation of hedge accounting in circumstances where a derivative, 
which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central 
counterparty as a consequence of laws or regulations. The Heritage Council does not routinely enter 
into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Australian Implementation Guidance for 
Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049].

1 Jan 2014

The amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a 
not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not key attribute of the investor’s 
relationship. The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact results from the 
adoption of the amended AASB 10.
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning  
on/after

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments.

1 Jan 2014 
1 Jan 2017

This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards arising from the deletion of references 
to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, 
defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017 (Part C). The Heritage Council has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact 
for Part B.

2014 2013
$ $

6. Employee benefits expense
Salaries and wages (a) 2,915,885 2,667,414
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 278,816 259,080

3,194,701 2,926,495

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to employees plus the fringe benefits tax component and leave 
entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 

(b)   Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs, including workers' compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. 
Employment on-costs are included at Note 12 'Other expenses' and are not included as part of the Heritage 
Council's Employee benefits expense.

The related liability is included in note 25 'Provisions - Employment on-costs'.
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Restated (a)

2014 2013
$ $

7. Supplies and services
General expenses 184,751 287,284
Communication expenses 39,558 91,983
Consumable expenses 50,721 35,120
Service contracts (b) 1,246,995 1,330,121
Minor equipment acquisitions 46,416 10,365

1,568,441 1,754,873
(a) The amounts have been restated for the error explained in Note 2(u).
(b) The decrease of $121,366 relates to accured expenditure for service contracts being overstated in 2013.

8. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 484,809 545,481
Repairs and maintenance 3,348 -
Other property costs 17,496 20,111

505,653 565,592

9. Grants and subsidies - grant recipients 
Grants recipients
Heritage Grants Program 1,219,364 1,243,542
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Funds 473,059 34,942
Emergency Grants 33,000 13,311
Conservation Incentive Program - 9,331

1,725,423 1,301,126

10. Grants and subsidies - other 
Cossack 120,000 120,000
Local government grants 86,680 -
Education and promotion 15,000 15,027

221,680 135,027
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2014 2013
$ $

11. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Office equipment and computers 15,320 12,670
Total depreciation 15,320 12,670

Amortisation
Intangible assets 120,260 120,701
Total amortisation 120,260 120,701

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 135,580 133,371

12. Other expenses
Employment on costs 37,072 52,568
Auditor General fee 16,600 16,600
Other expenses 2,617 1,117

56,289 70,285

13. User charges and fees
Training courses 10,400 26,620
inContact registration 12,279 -
Other 372 90

23,051 26,710

14. Provision of services
Consultancy services - 96,250

- 96,250

15. Other revenue
Government vehicle scheme 2,836 2,573
Other 13,553 1,694

16,389 4,267
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2014 2013
$ $

16. Income from State Government
Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Service appropriations (a) 7,138,000 6,617,000
Resources received free of charge

- Legal fees 14,741 42,003
- Accommodation - leasing 7,754 6,081
- Accommodation - fit out depreciation 227,470 210,220
- Financial Management Information System 101,640 -

7,489,605 6,875,304
(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation  

revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).

The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense  
for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Capital funds - 615,015
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund (a) 1,608,121 2,370,310
Heritage Grants Program (b) 1,404,034 1,120,321
Provisions for 27th pay in 2015-16 (c) 100,000 -

3,112,155 4,105,646

 

(a)  Funds restricted for reimbursement of restoration work in relation to the  
Goldfields earthquake damage of 2010.

(b)  Funds restricted for heritage grants awarded to the owners of state listed  
heritage properties for conservation purposes.

(c)  Funds restricted for the 27th pay that occurs in 2015-16.

18. Receivables
Current
Receivables 3,517 4,666
Allowance for impairment of receivables (2,617) -
GST receivable 117,917 69,219

118,817 73,885
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2014 2013
$ $

19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current 20,000 28,000
Non-Current 660,000 369,000

680,000 397,000
Represents the non-cash component of services appropriations. See Note 2(m) 'Amounts Receivable for 
Services (Holding Account)'. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of 
leave liability.

20. Office equipment, computers and hardware
Computer Hardware and Office Equipment
At cost 76,687 49,804
Accumulated depreciation (29,538) (14,218)

47,149 35,586
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of office equipment and computers, and furniture at the beginning 
and end of the reporting period are set out below:

Office 
Equipment & 
Computers 

Total

2014
Carrying amount at start of year 35,586 35,586
Additions 26,883 26,883
Depreciation/Amortisation (15,320) (15,320)
Carrying amount at end of year 47,149 47,149

2013
Carrying amount at start of year 48,256 48,256
Depreciation/Amortisation (12,670) (12,670)
Carrying amount at end of year 35,586 35,586
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2014 2013
21. Intangible assets $ $

Work in progress
 - Nimbus 1,567,799 801,761

Software
 - inHerit 603,503 603,503
Accumulated amortisation (240,960) (120,700)

362,543 482,803
1,930,342 1,284, 564

2014 Software (a) WIP (b) Total 
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of year 482,803 801,761 1,284,564
Additions - 766,038 766,038
Amortisation (120,260) - (120,260)
Carrying amount at end of year 362,543 1,567,799 1,930,342

2013 Software (a) WIP (b) Total 
Reconciliation:
Carrying amount at start of year - 764,318 764,318
Additions - 640,946 640,946
Transfers 603,503 (603,503) -
Amortisation (120,700) - (120,700)
Carrying amount at end of year 482,803 801,761 1,284,564

(a)  inHerit intangible asset relates to the completed costs of the Heritage Places Online Database for collecting, storing, analysing, and publishing 
information about heritage places.

(b)  Nimbus intangible asset relates to the development costs of the replacement of the Heritage Council’s core business system. This Windows 
application is being designed to replace the legacy “4D” database application “HOBS”, that has been in use since the 1990s. 

22. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to office equipment, computers, software or the intangible assets at 30 June 2014. The Heritage 
Council held intangible assets with a definite useful life during the reporting period relating to the development software. At the end of the 
reporting period, other than work in progress, there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
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Restated (a)

2014 2013
$ $

23. Payables
Trade payables 221,844 194,904
Other payables 4,342 3,962
Accrued expenses (b) 29,952 350,090
Accrued salaries 77,415 67,785

333,554 616,741
(a) The amounts have been restated for the error explained in Note 2(u).
(b) The decrease of $121,366 relates to accrued expenditure for service contracts being overstated in 2013.

24. Grants payable
Heritage Grants Program 1,303,144 1,025,068
Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund 579,777 827,386

1,882,921 1,852,454

25. Provisions 
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 233,177 192,612
Long service leave (b) 197,347 189,225

430,524 381,837
Other provisions
Purchased leave - 1,953
Employment on-costs (c) 43,319 38,727

473,843 422,517
Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 207,429 216,382

207,429 216,382
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c) 23,670 23,768

231,099 240,151
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2014 2013
$ $

25. Provisions continued
(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 

for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the 
liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 166,335 148,638
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 66,842 43,974

233,177 192,612

(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement 
of the liabilities will occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 79,394 58,819
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 325,382 346,789

404,776 405,608

(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-
costs including workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future 
payments. The associated expense is included as part of 'Other expenses'. (See Note 12). 

Movements in Other provisions, other than employee benefits, is set out below:

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 64,449 47,499
Additional provisions recognised 2,540 16,950
Carrying amount at end of year 66,989 64,449
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Restated (a)

2014 2013
$ $

26. Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the Heritage Council on behalf of the community. Equity 
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Heritage Council. The asset revaluation surplus 
represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity
Balance at start of the period 1,982,450 1,379,450
Capital Appropriation 11,000 603,000
Balance at end of the period 1,993,450 1,982,450

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of the period 2,793,213 2,677,450
Result for the period (b) 121,278 115,762
Balance at end of the period 2,914,490 2,793,213

Total equity at end of the period 4,907,940 4,775,663

(a) The amounts have been restated for the error explained in Note 2(u).
(b) The increase of $121,366 relates to accrued expenditure for service contracts being overstated in 2013.

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related 
item in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 1,940,394 2,009,845
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (See note 17) 3,112,155 4,105,646
Petty cash advance 500 1,000

5,053,049 6,116,491
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Restated (a)

2014 2013
$ $

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows continued
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities.
Net cost of services (7,368,327) (6,759,542)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 135,580 133,371
Resources received free of charge 351,605 258,304

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables 3,766 87,319
Current other assets - 528

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (b) (c) (292,818) 48,613
Grants payable 30,467 (1,421,830)
Current accrued salaries 9,630 5,797
Current annual leave 40,565 (32,431)
Current long service leave 8,122 (33,283)
Current other provisions 2,639 5,711
Non-current other provisions (8,954) 60,695
Non-current long service leave (98) 11,240
Net GST receipts/(payments) (d) (48,698) (12,018)
Net cash used in operating activities (7,136,521) (7,647,526)

(a) The amounts have been restated for the error explained in Note 2(u).
(b) The decrease of $121,366 relates to payables being overstated in 2013.
(c)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/

purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(d) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Heritage Council had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in the financial 
statements.
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28. Commitments
The commitments listed below are inclusive of GST where relevant. 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for the minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases contracted  
for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements are payable as follows:

2014 2013
$ $

Within 1 year 376,675 351,814
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,367,615 1,204,567
Later than 5 years 170,577 636,758

1,914,867 2,193,139

2014 2013
Representing: $ $
Accommodation property lease 1,911,106 2,178,304
Leased motor vehicles 3,761 14,836

1,914,867 2,193,140

Motor vehicles are leased through State Fleet. Leases expire at variable dates until 15 March 2015. New leases are arranged as leases expire to 
maintain the current fleet of two motor vehicles.

The Department of Finance, Building Management and Works has entered into a property lease, on behalf of State Government for the purpose 
of State Heritage Office/Heritage Council accommodation, which is a non-cancellable lease with a 20 year term, with rent payable monthly in 
advance. 

29. Remuneration of Members of the Heritage Council and Senior Officers
Remuneration of Members of the Heritage Council 
The number of Members of the Heritage Council, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation,  
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2014 2013
Number Number

$1 - $10,000 8 5
$10,001 - $20,000 6 6
$20,001 - $30,000 1 2

15 13
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29. Remuneration of Members of the Heritage Council and Senior Officers continued 2014 2013
$ $

Base remuneration 105,705 120,458
Other benefits - Superannuation 9,545 9,962
Total remuneration of the Members of the Heritage Council is: 115,250 130,420

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Heritage Council in respect of members of the 
Heritage Council.

No members of the Heritage Council are members of the Pension Scheme.

Remuneration of Senior Officers
The number of Senior Officers other than members of the Heritage Council, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary and 
other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

2014 2013
Number Number

$110,001 - $120,000 2 1
$120,001 - $130,000 1 2
$130,001 - $140,000 2 1
$140,001 - $150,000 3 2
$150,001 - $160,000 1 2
$190,001 - $200,000 - 1
$200,001 - $230,000 1 -

10 9

2014 2013
$ $

Base remuneration and superannuation 1,428,680 1,099,366
Annual leave and long service leave accruals (49,106) 45,594
Other benefits 10,856 148,761
Total remuneration of senior officers is: 1,390,430 1,293,721

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Heritage Council in respect of senior officers other than members of 
the Heritage Council.

No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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30. Remuneration of Auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2014 2013
$ $

Auditing of accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators. 17,800 16,600
17,800 16,600

31. Explanatory statement
Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be 
those greater than 10% and $50,000.

(a) Significant variations between estimated and actual result for 2014
2014 2014 Variance 

Estimate Actual Fav/(Unfav)
$ $ $

Expenses
Accommodation expenses (a) 586,000 505,653 80,347
Grants and subsidies (b) 1,438,000 1,947,103 (509,103)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (c) 289,000 135,580 153,420
Other expenses (d) 377,000 56,289 320,711

Income from State Government
Resources received free of charge (e) 158,000 351,605 (193,605)

(a) Variance due to July 2013 rent processed in the previous financial year, reducing actual costs for 2013-2014.

(b)  Variance attributable to the Goldfields Earthquake funding being carried forward into 2013-2014 along with implementation of the new 
Heritage Advisory Services Framework.

(c) Variance due to the delay in commissioning the new Nimbus software.

(d) Variance due to internal reallocation of funds to supplies and services.

(e) Variance due to depreciation for the office fit out and new costs for the hosting of the Financial Management Information System.
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31. Explanatory statement continued
(b) Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2014 Restated

2014 2013 Variance 
Actual Actual Fav/(Unfav)

$ $ $
Expenses
Supplies and services (a) 1,568,441 1,754,873 186,432
Accommodation expenses (b) 505,653 565,592 59,939
Grants and subsidies (c) 1,947,103 1,436,153 (510,950)

Income
Provision of services (d) - 96,250 96,250

Income from State Government
Resources received free of charge (e) 351,605 258,304 (93,301)

(a) Variance due to a decrease in service contracts mainly as a result of local governments now directly engaging heritage consultants.

(b) Variance due to July 2013 rent processed in the previous financial year, reducing actual costs for 2013-2014. 

(c) The increase is due to the new Heritage Advisory Service model and the finalisation of some of the Goldfields Earthquake Grants.

(d)  The decrease is due to the launch of the Heritage Advisory Services model where local governments engage heritage consultants direct, 
rather than reimbursing the Heritage Council for these activities. 

(e) Variance due to new costs for the hosting of the Financial Management Information System.

32. Supplementary financial information 2014 2013
$ $

Bad debts written off - 1,117
Provision for doubtful debts 2,617 -

2,617 1,117

33. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
The Heritage Council has no significant contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at the reporting date.

34. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period
On July 1, 2014 the Government established the new Department of the State Heritage Office. Some of the functions and activities of  
the Heritage Council of Western Australia will be transferred to the Department during 2014-15 together with certain assets and liabilities.



1 0 7 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 0 7    Annual  Report  2013/141 0 7 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 0 7    Annual  Report  2013/141 0 7 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 0 7    Annual  Report  2013/14

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

35. Financial instrument disclosures
(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

Financial instruments held by the Heritage Council are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables and payables. The Heritage 
Council has limited exposure to financial risks. The Board’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
The Heritage Council trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Heritage Council has policies in place to ensure that sales of 
products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis with the result that the Heritage Council's exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The Heritage Council has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash 
flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
The Heritage Council does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks.

Cash flow interest rate risk
The risk is managed by Western Australian Treasury Corporation (WATC) through portfolio diversification and variation in maturity dates. 
Otherwise, the Heritage Council is not exposed to interest rate risk because cash and cash equivalents are non-interest bearing and there are no 
borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 
are:

2014 2013
$ $

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,940,894 2,010,845
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,112,155 4,105,646
Receivables (a) 680,900 401,666

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 2,216,475 2,469,195

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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35. Financial instrument disclosures continued

(c) Financial Instrument disclosures

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Board’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant 
throughout the reporting period.

Carrying 
Amount

-100 Basis Points +100 Basis Points
Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

2014 $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,940,894 (19,409) (19,409) 19,409 19,409
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3,112,155 (31,122) (31,122) 31,122 31,122

Total Increase/(Decrease) (50,531) (50,531) 50,531 50,531

Financial Liabilities
The Board does not have any Financial Liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.

Carrying 
Amount

-100 Basis Points +100 Basis Points
Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

2013 $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,010,845 (20,108) (20,108) 20,108 20,108
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,105,646 (41,056) (41,056) 41,056 41,056

Total Increase/(Decrease) (61,165) (61,165) 61,165 61,165

Financial Liabilities
The Board does not have any Financial Liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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35. Financial instrument disclosures continued
(c) Financial instrument disclosures continued
Credit risk 
The following table discloses the Heritage Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Heritage 
Council's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The 
table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information 
provided to senior management of the Heritage Council.

The Heritage Council does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.

 Ageing analysis of financial assets
Carrying 
Amount

Not past 
Due and not 

Impaired

Past due but not impaired Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

Up to  
1 month

1-3 Months 3 months to 
1 Year

1-5 Years More than  
5 Years

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
Financial Assets
2014
Cash and cash equivalents 1,940,894 1,940,894 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

3,112,155 3,112,155 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 900 0 - - - 900 - -
Amounts receivable  
for services

680,000 680,000 - - - - - -

5,733,949 5,733,049 - - - 900 - -
2013
Cash and cash equivalents 2,010,845 2,010,845 - - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

4,105,646 4,105,646 - - - - - -

Receivables (a) 4,666 0 541 1,305 - 2,819 - -
Amounts receivable  
for services

397,000 397,000 - - - - - -

6,518,157 6,513,491 541 1,305 - 2,819 - -

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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35. Financial instrument disclosures continued
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities. The table includes interest and principal cash flows.  
An adjustment has been made where material.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities (a)

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity date
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to  
1 month

1-3 
Months 

3 months 
to 1 Year

1-5 Years More 
than  

5 Years

2014 %  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 1,940,894 - - 1,940,894 1,940,894 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

0.00% 3,112,155 - - 3,112,155 3,112,155 - - - - -

Receivables 0.00% 900 - - 900 900 - - - 900 -
Amounts receivable  
for services

0.00% 680,000 - - 680,000 680,000 - - - - -

5,733,949 - - 5,733,949 5,733,949 - - - 900 -
Financial Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 333,554 - - 333,554 333,554 - - - - -
Grants payable (b) 0.00% 1,882,921 - - 1,882,921 1,882,921 70,000 500,000 1,312,921 - -

2,216,475 - - 2,216,475 2,216,475 70,000 500,000 1,312,921 - -
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued
Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

35. Financial instrument disclosures continued
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities (a)

Interest Rate Exposure Maturity date
Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest 

Rate

Variable 
Interest 

Rate

Non 
Interest 
Bearing

Nominal 
Amount

Up to 
1 month

1-3 
Months 

3 months 
to 1 Year

1-5 Years More 
than 5 
Years

2013 %  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0.00% 2,010,845 - - 2,010,845 2,010,845 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents

0.00% 4,105,646 - - 4,105,646 4,105,646 - - - - -

Receivables 0.00% 4,666 - - 4,666 4,666 541 1,305 2,819 -
Amounts receivable  
for services

0.00% 397,000 - - 397,000 397,000 - - - -

6,518,157 - - 6,518,157 6,518,157 541 1,305 - 2,819 -
Financial Liabilities
Payables 0.00% 616,741 - - 616,741 616,741 616,741 - - - -
Grants payable (b) 0.00% 1,852,454 - - 1,852,454 1,852,454 50,000 600,000 1,202,454 -

2,469,195 - - 2,469,195 2,469,195 666,741 600,000 1,202,454 - -

(a) The amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liability at the end of the reporting period. 

(b)  Grant amounts remaining outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are subject to grant agreements with recipients with an average grant 
period of two years. Grants payments are generally made progressively over the period. 
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6.3 Key Performance Indicators

Certification of Key Performance Indicators
We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess 
the Heritage Council of Western Australia’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Heritage Council for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2014.

Marion Fulker 
Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

5 September 2014

Anne Arnold 
Deputy Chair 
Heritage Council of Western Australia

5 September 2014
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Outcomes, Services And Key Performance Indicators
Government Goal Desired Outcome Service

Social and Environmental Responsibility: Ensuring that economic 
activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State.

Conservation of cultural heritage places in 
Western Australia, for the benefit of present  
and future generations.

Cultural heritage 
conservation services.

Relationship to Government Goals
The Heritage Council aims to conserve cultural heritage places in 
Western Australia for the benefit of present and future generations.

This outcome is aligned to the higher-level Government goal of 
protecting and enhancing the unique West Australian lifestyle, 
as well as ensuring sustainable environmental management and 
supporting outcomes based service delivery.

Government Goal
Social and Environmental Responsibility: Ensuring that economic 
activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible 
manner for the long-term benefit of the State.

Desired Outcome
Conservation of cultural heritage places in Western Australia,  
for the benefit of present and future generations.

Service
Cultural heritage conservation services provided by the Heritage 
Council include:

 ■ establish and maintain a comprehensive heritage register
 ■ provide conservation advice on development referrals and 

other relevant matters
 ■ develop the role of public authorities in conserving and 

managing heritage places
 ■ provide financial assistance and other conservation 

incentives
 ■ provide publications, seminars and other promotional 

activities.

Service Summary

Expense
2010/11 
Actual

2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Actual

2013/14 
Target

2013/14 
Actual

Variance Budget 
to Actual 2013/14

Variance Actual 
2012/13 to 2013/14

Note

Cultural Heritage Conservation Services 6,942 7,107 7,008 7,291 7,408 117 400 1, 2

1.  Actual expenditure 2013/14 is above budget due to delays in the finalisation of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund.

2.  Actual expenditure 2013/14 is above 2012/13 actuals due to delays in the finalisation of the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund.



1 1 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 1 4    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heading

1 1 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 1 4    Annual  Report  2013/141 1 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 1 4    Annual  Report  2013/14

Heritage Council of Western Australia for the year ended 30 June 2014

1 1 4 Heritage  Counci l  of  Western  Austra l ia    1 1 4    Annual  Report  2013/14

Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Performance Indicators

In 2012/13, the Heritage Council adopted a new set of key 
performance indicators to provide a more meaningful measure of 
the agency’s efficiency and effectiveness in the delivery of cultural 
heritage services. Because of this, only one year of comparative 
figures can be provided.

Key Effectiveness Indicators
The Heritage Council’s key effectiveness indicators include:
Extent to which heritage places identified as having 
potential State significance have been assessed
This indicator illustrates the success of the Heritage Council in 
fulfilling a key function – place assessments - over time, within  
the scope of factors in its control.

Extent to which development approvals issued for 
registered places are consistent with the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia’s advice to decision-making 
authorities.

This indicates the extent to which a key function – development 
advice – is given affect to by decision-making authorities.

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment  
in conservation projects.

This indicates the extent to which the grant programs leverage 
investment in conservation activity.

Key Effectiveness Indicators 2012/13
Actual

2013/14 
Target

2013/14
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 2013/14

Note

Extent to which heritage places identified as having potential State significance  
have been assessed 75.4% 76% 75.8% 0.2%

Extent to which development approvals issued for registered places are 
consistent with the Heritage Council of Western Australia's advice to decision 
- making authorities

99.7% 100% 100% 0%

Extent to which grant aid leverages additional investment in conservation projects 2.7:1 2:1 5.7:1 3.7:1 1

1.  The leveraging of heritage grant funds was more successful than anticipated due to a number of grant recipients contributing 
significantly more than the required matching contribution.
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Key Performance Indicators continued

Key Efficiency Indicators

Key efficiency indicators include:

Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full 
assessment but resulting in decisions not to recommend 
interim registration. 

This indicator illustrates a central component of potential wastage 
in the key Heritage Council process of place assessment.

Average cost per place of maintaining the heritage register

Average cost of development referrals

Average cost of administering grants (per grant dollar)

These indicators illustrate the cost of performing key functions of 
the maintenance of the State Register, processing of development 
referrals and management of grants.

Key Efficiency Indicators 2012/13
Actual

2013/14
Target

2013/14
Actual

Variance 
Target to 

Actual 2013/14

Note

Incidence of preliminary reviews proceeding to full assessment but resulting in 
decisions not to recommend interim registration. 6.5% 6.5% 6.3% (0.2%)

Average cost per place of maintaining the heritage register $175 $169 $97 $72 1
Average cost of development referrals $998 $938 $848 $90 2
Average cost of administering grants (per grant dollar) 23c 19c 10c 9c 3

1.  Efficiencies created through new system developments, such as inHerit, the online heritage places database enquiry service, have 
reduced the actual average cost per place of maintaining the heritage register.

2.  An increase in the volume of development referrals, combined with maintenance of costs, has resulted in a lower average cost per 
development referral for 2013/14.

3.  The average cost of administering grants is impacted by the Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund. As this is still ongoing, this has 
resulted in a lower than anticipated average cost of administration per grant dollar in 2013/14.

Ministerial Directives

The State Heritage Office received no Ministerial Directives under section 6(2) of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 in 2013/14. 

The State Heritage Office received no Ministerial Directives under section 3(2)(b) of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 in 2013/14. 
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6.4 Other Financial Disclosures including Capital Projects and Employees

Pricing Policies of Services Provided

The Heritage Council charges for goods and services rendered  
on a full or partial cost-recovery basis for:

 ■ The delivery of the Heritage Management and Planning 
Seminar 

 ■ Freedom of Information requests
 ■ inclusion in inContact, our online directory of heritage 

specialists.

The fees and charges are determined in accordance with ‘Costing 
and Pricing Government Services: Guidelines for Use by Agencies 
in the Western Australian Public Sector’ published by Treasury. 

Current fees and charges are available on stateheritage.wa.gov.au.

Capital Works

Capital projects incomplete

The development of a new business system commenced in 
2011/12. The system is expected to cost $1.7million with an 
expected completion date of October 2014. Costs incurred in 
relation to this project total $1,567,799 as at 30 June 2014.  
This includes:

 ■ $160,815 in 2011/12
 ■ $640,946 in 2012/13
 ■ $766,038 in 2013/14

Capital projects completed

No capital projects were completed in 2013/14.

Employment and Industrial Relations

The State Heritage Office supports the Heritage Council in 
carrying out its functions. Until 30 June 2014, State Heritage 
Office staff were employed through the employing authority of the 
Department of Local Government and Communities (DLGC) under 
a Memorandum of Understanding.

State Heritage Office staff are employed under the Public Service 
and Government Officers General Agreement 2011. The following 
table provides a breakdown of the categories of staff employment 
as at 30 June 2014 in comparison with prior years.

Staff Profile (as at 30 June 2014)

Year 2012 2013 2014
Total FTE 28 29 29.4
Total Head Count 31 32 32
Perm Head Count 24 29 27
Contract Head Count 7 3 5
Part time Head Count 7 3 3

Staffing policies

The State Heritage Office values its workforce – it is pivotal to the 
provision of efficient and effective heritage services across Western 
Australia. 

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au
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Other Financial Disclosures including Capital Projects and Employees continued

Workforce and Diversity Plan 2014-19

Previously, we have adopted the workforce plan of our host 
agency, shifting with portfolio and other machinery of government 
changes. To maintain consistently high standards of service 
delivery, and with the involvement of all State Heritage Office staff, 
we now conduct our own workforce planning.

The State Heritage Office Workforce and Diversity Plan (the 
Plan) acknowledges the environmental influences, objectives 
and priorities of the Heritage Council Strategic Plan 2013-2017 
and works to continue to attract and build our internal workforce 
capacity to deliver on those strategic objectives.

Relevant, achievable and measurable actions across five strategic 
areas: recruitment; retention; building workforce capacity; 
rejuvenating organisational culture; and increasing workforce 
diversity, are detailed in the Plan.

The Plan supports the Public Sector Commission’s Strategic 
Directions for the Public Sector Workforce 2009-2014, and as 
such will provide strategies in which to attract and maintain a 
skilled workforce. 

The Plan demonstrates commitment to equal opportunity 
principles according to the Equal Opportunities Act 1984, and 
recognises that all people, regardless of age, gender, disability 
and cultural background, have skills, qualifications, experience 
and attitudes valuable to our agency. Diversity elements are 
included and integrated across initiatives to support a workforce 
representative of the community we serve.

All staff share responsibility and accountability for the 
implementation and success of the Plan.

Resources to enable workforce training development are detailed 
in the annual State Heritage Office Business Plan:

 ■ Agency wide development initiatives are strategically 
developed by the Corporate Executive group to ensure 
agency compliance, best practice and professionalism.

 ■ All staff participate in a formal Individual Development 
Process. In this, staff, in consultation with line mangers and 
in relation to demonstrated performance, drive their own 
development paths.

Training and development completed

During the financial year, our employees participated in over 
90 training activities. Training activities are designed to support 
professional development and ensure a safe workplace.

Professional development:
 ■ Computer skill development
 ■ Social media, digital marketing and mobilisation
 ■ Procurement practices and contract management
 ■ Leadership
 ■ Customer service
 ■ Selection skills
 ■ Legal (permits and approvals)
 ■ Freedom of Information 
 ■ Finance and financing historic real estate restoration projects
 ■ Digital collections 
 ■ Preservation 
 ■ Record keeping and information management
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Other Financial Disclosures including Capital Projects and Employees continued

Safe workplace:
 ■ Grievance Officer role
 ■ Diversity awareness and website accessibility 
 ■ Responsible service of alcohol
 ■ Floor warden and fire extinguisher training
 ■ Defensive driver training
 ■ Risk management and crisis response

Flexible workplace

State Heritage Office staff enjoy flexible working arrangements 
to allow a life balance, including flexible start and finish times, 
flexidays, job share and part time arrangements and a family 
friendly workplace.

Values

Historically, the State Heritage Office has adopted the values of the 
host agency. In early 2014, staff commenced work to develop a 
new set of values specific to this agency.

Policies

All human resource policies are available to staff through the 
intranet and are reviewed regularly with staff input.

Students

The value of developing students and graduates in the public 
sector is recognised by our agency. This year, we hosted a number 
of students, whose project deliverables included:

1. ‘A Comparison of Topographic Data Sets Available in WA 
(using heritage places as examples)’ - Department of Spatial 
Sciences, Curtin University

2. ‘Private Maternity Hospitals in Western Australia: An 
Overview’ – School of Arts and Sciences, University of Notre 
Dame

3. ‘Raymond Jones Architecture Overview and Houses 1957-
1967’ – Faculty of Arts, University of Western Australia

4. ‘Provision of Housing by the State in Western Australia, 
1945-1956’ – School of Business, Edith Cowan University

5. ‘Workforce and Diversity Plan’ - School of Business, Edith 
Cowan University

Risk Management 

Risk management was a key focus area in 2013/14, with the first 
Heritage Council and State Heritage Office Risk Management 
Policy and Process adopted by the Heritage Council. A full risk 
review was conducted of both operational and strategic risks, with 
RiskBase fully furnished with the results. To ensure currency, an 
ongoing review plan was initiated. To further support this, the first 
Heritage Council and State Heritage Office Business Continuity 
Plan was developed.

Workers Compensation

The Heritage Council complies with Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984. No compensation claims were recorded during 
the financial year.
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6.5 Governance Disclosures

Enabling Legislation

The Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 is the enabling legislation for the Heritage Council of Western Australia.

The Heritage Council was established under section 5 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.

Board and Committee Remuneration

Name Position Period of 
membership

Board Member 
Annual Fee

$

Committee 
Member Sitting Fee

$

Gross 
Remuneration

$

Mrs Marion Fulker* Chair 13/03/2009-
30/06/2017 $22,300 $22,300

Mrs Anne Arnold Councillor & Committee Member 01/01/2008-
01/01/2015 $8,700 $3,490 $12,190

Mr Philip Griffiths Councillor & Committee Member 07/07/1992-
01/01/2015 $8,700 $3,250 $11,950

Mr David Heaver Councillor & Committee Member 22/06/2009-
01/03/2017 $8,700 $2,280 $10,980

Mr Lloyd Clark Councillor & Committee Member 18/01/2010-
01/01/2015 $8,700 $1,870 $10,570

Ms Nerida Moredoundt Councillor & Committee Member 12/12/2010-
01/01/2015 $8,700 $1,710 $10,410

Professor John Stephens Councillor & Committee Member 18/04/2011-
01/01/2015 $8,700 $1,700 $10,400

Mayor Henry Zelones Councillor & Committee Member 01/01/2008-
01/01/2014 $4,371 $850 $5,221

Ms Jennifer Marschner Committee Member 07/07/2012-
30/06/2017 - $1,870 $1,870

Mr Antony Ednie-Brown Committee Member 01/07/2012-
30/06/2017 - $1,700 $1,700

Dr Fiona Bush Committee Member 01/07/2012-
30/06/2017 - $1,700 $1,700
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Governance Disclosures continued

Name Position Period of 
membership

Board Member 
Annual Fee

$

Committee 
Member Sitting Fee

$

Gross 
Remuneration

$

Mr Gerald Major Committee Member 22/07/2012-
30/06/2017 - $1,530 $1,530

Mr Chris Antill Committee Member 07/07/2013-
30/07/2017 - $1,530 $1,530

Mr Peter Woodward Committee Member 22/07/2013-
30/06/2017 - $1,360 $1,360

Dr Sue Graham-Taylor Committee Member 22/07/2013-
30/06/2017 - $1,360 $1,360

*Mrs Fulker served as a Heritage Councillor from 10/11/2005 to 12/03/09 prior to being appointed Chair.

Contracts with Senior Officers

Requirement under Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 903

At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which senior 
officers are members, or entities in which senior officers have 
substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed 
contracts with the Heritage Council other than normal contracts of 
employment of service.

Complaints Handling 

As part of a whole-of-government complaints management 
strategy, the Heritage Council has a complaints management 
system that conforms to the relevant Australian Standard. 

No complaints were received in 2013/14. 

Freedom of Information

This year, the Heritage Council received three applications under 
Freedom of Information legislation. Two of these were completed 
in 2013/14, along with two other applications that were received 
but not completed the previous year. The remaining application will 
be completed in early 2014/15. 
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6.6 Other Legal Requirements

Expenditure on Advertising, Market Research, Polling and 
Direct Mail

Requirement under section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907

The Heritage Council incurred the following expenditure in 
advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising:

Total advertising expenditure for 2013/14 was $2,966.10

Advertising in the Government Gazette included:
 ■ $2,096.87  new registrations 
 ■ $136.00  new delegations
 ■ $86.55  other

Adcorp advertising included $648 for a public call for submissions 
to the Draft Heritage Council and State Heritage Office Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan.

Advertising Agencies Value
Media Advertising Organisations Nil
Market Research Organisations Nil
Polling Organisations Nil
Direct Mail Organisations Nil
DPC – Government Gazette Advertisements* $2,319.42
Adcorp Australia Limited $648

*  (Statutory advertising under the Heritage of Western Australia Act 
1990) 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan

Requirement under section 29 of the Disability Services Act 
1993

Heritage Council and State Heritage Office DAIP 2014-2019

The Heritage Council is committed to ensuring that people with 
disability are able to access services, facilities and information 
by providing them with the same opportunities, rights and 
responsibilities enjoyed by others in the community. 

The agency has previously worked to the DAIP of the Department 
of Local Government and Communities, however, in 2013 it was 
determined the agency, as the Heritage Council and State Heritage 
Office, should have its own DAIP.

Between 4 April and 9 May 2014, members of the community, 
stakeholders and staff were asked to identify any problems 
they have in using the services, accessing information, making 
complaints, physically accessing Heritage Council and State 
Heritage Office facilities, and generally dealing with staff.

Invitation to comment was promoted through:
 ■ An advertisement placed in the West Australian newspaper 

advising that the agency is developing a DAIP to address possible  
barriers to accessing agency functions, facilities and services;

 ■ Invitation for interested community members to provide input 
into the development of the plan via a feedback form;

 ■ Publishing a notice on the State Heritage website and 
Intranet calling for feedback; and

 ■ Publishing an article on State Heritage e-newsletter calling 
for feedback.
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Other Legal Requirements continued

Only two responses were received, with neither comment 
requesting changes to the draft DAIP.

The final version of the DAIP was endorsed by the State Heritage 
Office Corporate Executive Group and Heritage Council, and 
successfully lodged with the Disability Services Commission in 
June 2014. 

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office DAIP is now 
available on stateheritage.wa.gov.au. 

Strategies to improve access and inclusion 

The agency’s strategies for each of the outcomes are listed below:

Outcome 1:

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to access the services of, and any events organised by, the agency.

 ■ Ensure that all events organised by the State Heritage 
Office are planned in accordance with the Disability Service 
Commission’s ‘Creating Accessible Events Checklist’. 

 ■ Make available and promote the checklist to all staff to 
ensure events are accessible to people with disability. 

 ■ Occupational Safety and Health procedures are in place to 
ensure the safety of employees and visitors with disability in 
the event of a fire, evacuation or other critical incident.

Outcome 2: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to access the buildings and other facilities of the agency. 

 ■ Ensure fire wardens are trained in evacuation procedures for 
people with disability. 

 ■ Ensure that the office’s client contact areas are accessible 
to people with disability. 

 ■ Ensure State Heritage Office staff are aware of our facilities 
and resources available to people (employees and visitors) 
with disability (e.g. toilets, building access, ramps, etc.) 

 ■ Any feedback about access from employees or visitors with 
disability is acted on in a timely and appropriate manner.

 ■ Ensure signage is clear, easy to understand and meet the 
needs of people with disability.

Outcome 3: 

People with disability receive information from the agency in a 
format that will enable them to access the information as readily as 
other people are able to access it.

 ■ Continue to work with DLGC’s member of the WA 
Government Web Accessibility Reference Group.

 ■ Ensure all agency websites and on-line applications are 
compliant with the Website Governance Requirements as 
directed by central agencies. 

 ■ Continue to ensure that the review and updates to the 
agency’s website meets the needs of people with disability 
by complying with the WCAG Guidelines and incorporating 
new techniques as they become available. 

 ■ Continue to actively engage and educate officers within 
the agency in regards to creating documents that are 
accessible to all members of the community.

http://www.stateheritage.wa.gov.au
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Other Legal Requirements continued

Outcome 4: 

People with disability receive the same level and quality of service 
from the staff of the agency as other people receive from the staff 
of the agency.

 ■ Provide disability awareness information to new employees 
as part of the induction/orientation process.

 ■ Ensure that State Heritage Office staff participate in disability 
awareness training to make them aware of the needs of 
people with disability.

 ■ Ensure that all staff have the knowledge and skills to provide 
quality services for people with disability.

Outcome 5: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to make complaints to the agency.

 ■ Ensure our existing complaints and feedback systems/
mechanisms are accessible for people with disability, and 
that those systems are reviewed periodically.

 ■ Ensure our complaints management policies and 
procedures are made available in flexible and accessible 
formats.

 ■ Provide information and guidance to staff on the appropriate 
application in handling complaints from people with 
disability.

Outcome 6: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to participate in any public consultation by the agency.

 ■ Ensure that public consultations are held in an accessible 
manner and inclusive of people with disability.

 ■ Ensure information detailing the nature of the consultation is 
available in accessible formats for people with disability.

 ■ Provide sufficient notice of meetings and an appropriate 
level of support to people with disability who are directly 
involved in any consultation process.

 ■ Commit to ongoing monitoring of our DAIP to ensure 
implementation and satisfactory outcomes.

Outcome 7: 

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people 
to obtain and maintain employment with the agency.

 ■ Ensure that the job application process is accessible to all 
people.

 ■ Provide information and guidance to management and staff 
(including selection panels) on the appropriate approaches 
in communicating with people with disability. 

 ■ Research and recommend strategies on alternative/flexible 
interview and assessment processes. 

 ■ Ensure staff with disability get the support that they require 
in order to be successful in their job.
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Other Legal Requirements continued

Outcomes of previous DAIP

Key initiatives which have been implemented under the previous 
DAIP include:

 ■ Working with Building Management (Resolve FM) to ensure 
access to our office, facilities and amenities meet legislative 
and access standards as a result of our relocation to the 
140 William Street complex, Perth;

 ■ Representation on the tenants group to address 
accessibility issues;

 ■ Redeveloping websites to comply with W3C Web Content 
Accessibility Guidelines – AA level; 

 ■ The incorporation of the DAIP in the Induction and 
Orientation program;

 ■ Ensuring agency produced material is available in alternate 
formats on request; and

 ■ An initial review of our Complaints System and policy to 
determine its accessibility for people with disability.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical 
Codes

Requirement under section 31(1) Public Sector Management 
Act 1994

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office together with the 
Department of Local Government and Communities work to the 
Public Sector Accountability, Integrity and Ethics Framework. 

Together we ensure compliance with the:
 ■ The WA Public Sector Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct 
 ■ The Public Sector Standards in Human Resources 

Management
 ■ Part IX of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

State Heritage Office staff are employed under the employing 
authority of the Department of Local Government and 
Communities and have therefore adopted the Department’s Code 
of Conduct.

To ensure ongoing compliance, staff are required to sign annually:
 ■ a Code of Conduct Employee Acknowledgement Form
 ■ a Conflict of Interest Declaration

The Heritage Council has its own Code of Conduct for all 
members of the Council. Where members may have a conflict 
of interest or potential conflict of interest in items before Council, 
members must declare that conflict of interest or potential conflict 
of interest to the Chair and be excused from attendance, where 
determined, on those particular items. 

The agency has a dedicated Public Information Disclosure (PID) 
officer who remains informed of PID best practice and regularly 
briefs staff on potential issues and risks in relation to standards 
and ethics in the sector.
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Other Legal Requirements continued

Actions to ensure compliance

Managers and staff are informed of, and required to comply with, 
the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management. 
Actions to monitor and ensure compliance with public sector 
standards include:

 ■ Recruitment Selection and Appointment Standard is 
followed during any recruitment process;

 ■ An open and competitive process exists for acting and 
secondment positions; 

 ■ An individual performance development process is in place 
to ensure there are current performance management 
processes in place for all employees; and

 ■ Staff are advised of, and encouraged to report non-
compliance to, the Public Information Disclosure Officer.

The following actions have been taken to ensure that all staff 
are aware of the Code of Ethics, including accountability, ethical 
decision-making, procurement guidelines and managing potential 
conflict of interest issues.

 ■ All staff are made aware of the conduct standards expected 
within the public sector, the wider Department and 
specifically the State Heritage Office, during induction. The 
staff induction program also includes policies, guidelines 
on conflicts of interest (including declaration of secondary 
employment/conflict of interest), and links to Department of 
Finance purchasing guidelines. A checklist signed by all new 
staff ensures awareness of these compliance requirements.

 ■ Relevant policies and procedures, as well as hyperlinks to 
other relevant policies or instructions are available to all staff 
via the intranet.

 ■ Each monthly staff meeting has a standing agenda item to 
put the spotlight on elements of the legislative framework, 
compliance instruments and devices and processes for 
reporting breaches.

 ■ Contacts for officers, such as the PID Officer or Grievance 
Officer, are posted in common areas within the agency.

 ■ Staff are trained to relevant degrees, depending on their 
compliance requirements:

 ■ Compulsory staff training activities include:
 ■ Public Sector Introduction (for staff new to the sector)
 ■ Ethical and Accountable Decision Making
 ■ Procurement Awareness, conducted by the 

Department of Finance
 ■ Diversity Training, as provided online by the Office  

of Multicultural Interests 
 ■ Record keeping

 ■ Specific staff receive higher level training in:
 ■ Contact Officer Role and Grievance Officer Role
 ■ Equal Employment Opportunity
 ■ Public Information Disclosure Officer role
 ■ Complaints handling

 ■ In the instance an issue of non-compliance is identified,  
it is immediately addressed with the officer concerned.
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Other Legal Requirements continued

Evidence of compliance in 2013/14

Compliance issues that arose 
during 2013/14 regarding 
public sector standards

There were no breach claims 
lodged in 2013/14

Compliance issues that arose 
during 2013/14 regarding Code 
of Ethics

There were no reports on  
non-compliance in 2013/14

Compliance with own agency 
Code of Conduct

There were no breaches of the 
Code of Conduct in 2013/14

Record keeping

Requirement under s.61 State Records Act 2000 and Legal 
Deposits Act 2012 

Records management framework

With a high percentage of archival records, the Heritage Council 
is committed to continuously improving record keeping practices 
consistent with the State Records Act 2000 and aims for best 
practice record keeping. 

In accordance with s.28 of the State Records Act 2000, the Heritage 
Council must have a record-keeping plan that has been approved by 
the State Records Commission under s.23 of the Act. The Heritage 
Council’s Recordkeeping Plan 2013/2018 was approved by the 
State Records Office in early 2013 and remains current.

The associated Retention and Disposal Schedule was submitted 
to the State Records Office last financial year, and approved by 
the State Records Advisory Committee in April 2014. This will be 
presented to the State Records Commission in August 2014.

Storage and disposal 

The Heritage Council ensures safe storage of all files, both 
within the agency and through an off-site storage facility, for the 
duration of their retention. Additional security was implemented 
this year with the installation of a self-closing security door to the 
compactus area.

Regular file audits indicate the efficiency and effectiveness of the 
recordkeeping training program and systems.

The regular disposal program was held in abeyance in 2013/14 
as the agency awaits final approval of its revised Retention and 
Disposal Schedule. 

Induction and training

The State Heritage Office has a dedicated Records Officer 
who conducts regular training of staff in their record keeping 
responsibilities, provides guidance on record keeping practices 
and standards, maintains standard operating procedures and 
process documentation, and reports on record keeping at monthly 
staff forums. 

The induction program addresses staff roles and responsibilities in 
regard to compliance with the Record Keeping Plan. 

Publication deposits

In accordance with the Legal Deposit Act 2012 and Legal Deposit 
Regulations 2013, all publications produced by the State Heritage 
Office on behalf of the Heritage Council are deposited with the State 
Library to ensure the ongoing collection and preservation of the 
State’s cultural heritage for future generations. A copy of this annual 
report will also be submitted to the National Library of Australia.
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6.7 Government Policy Requirements

Substantive Equality

As part of the Department of Local Government and Communities, 
the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office embrace the 
principles of Substantive Equality, the public sector’s program 
for the prevention of systemic indirect forms of discrimination in 
service delivery to Indigenous and Culturally and Linguistically 
Diverse (CaLD) groups. 

The Heritage Council and State Heritage Office are committed 
to providing practices and work place cultures to ensure all 
community members can fully participate in the services provided 
by the agency. Efforts to achieve this include:

 ■ All staff are required to complete the Office of Multicultural 
Interests Diversity Training Program

 ■ All staff are educated on the WA Language Services Policy 
2008 and agency specific guidelines 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

Public Sector Commissioners Circular 2009-11: Code of Practice: 
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public 
Sector.

The Heritage Council works within the Occupational Health and 
Safety framework of the Department of Local Government and 
Communities (DLGC). The OSH policy statement states the 
Department is committed to “providing and maintaining a safe and 
healthy working environment for its employees within the legislative 
framework of the Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Act 1984 
and other associated legislation, including the Code of Practice for 
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public 
Sector 2007.” 

The Heritage Council has demonstrated commitment to 
occupational safety and health and injury management and 
ensures this activity is properly resourced. To ensure a formal 
mechanism for reporting, an Occupational Health and Safety 
Report is a standing agenda item in State Heritage Office 
Corporate Executive meetings. 

Staff are informed of the health and safety expectations within 
the agency in the first stage of all inductions, which includes a 
requirement to read the Emergency Management Plan located  
on each floor. 

The State Heritage Office has an Occupational Safety and Health 
Representative who is fully trained for this role. This officer:

 ■ Conducts monthly workplace inspections and reports these 
to the OSH Committee and Corporate Executive Group; and

 ■ Represents the Heritage Council and State Heritage Office 
on the DLGC Workplace Health and Safety Committee. 
This committee, comprised of representatives across the 
broader Department, meets quarterly to review policies and 
procedures, discuss incidents, accidents or issues, and 
champion new health and safety initiatives. 

Staff are encouraged to report health and safety concerns 
immediately to managers and issues relating to health and safety 
are discussed in monthly all-of-staff forums. In 2013/14, staff were 
surveyed to identify new wellness initiatives. 
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Government Policy Requirements continued

A summary of activities conducted in 2013/14 to ensure a safe 
and healthy work environment were:

 ■ Provision of a nominated first aid officer 
 ■ Driver training conducted
 ■ Floor wardens trained and fire drills carried out
 ■ Professional ergonomic assessments provided where 

required, and recommended equipment installed
 ■ Induction material provided to all new and existing 

staff members was reviewed, including a section on 
occupational, safety and health policies and procedures

 ■ Influenza injections provided 
 ■ Glasses subsidies provided 
 ■ Provision of sunscreen, hand sanitiser and tissues.

Mental health

The Heritage Council is committed to supporting mental health. 
All State Heritage Office employees are provided with access 
to a confidential Employee Assistance Program, which delivers 
independent professional counselling services for staff and 
families.

Injury Management

The Heritage Council complies with DLGC’s Injury Management 
Policy and is committed to providing injury management support 
to all employees who sustain a work related injury or illness, 

and to assist in their safe and early return to meaningful work, 
in accordance with the Worker’s Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.

No workers’ compensation claims arose during the year. As a 
result, no return to work plans were required.

Report against performance targets

Indicator Target 2013/14 Actual 2013/14
Number of fatalities Zero (0) 0
Lost time injury/
diseases (LTI/D) 
incidence rate 

Zero (0) or 10% 
reduction on 
previous year 

0

Lost time injury 
severity rate 

Zero (0) or 10% 
improvement on 

previous year 
0

Percentage of 
injured workers 
returned to work 
within 28 weeks

N/A N/A

Percentage of 
managers trained 
in occupational 
safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

50% 83%
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7.0 Appendices

7.1 Appendix l Heritage Grants Program Allocation 2013/14

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Awarded Varied amount

Mr DR & Mrs JA Yates 395 Bond Store and Magistrate's Office (fmr), 
Busselton  $10,764.60  $10,764.60 

Mr RS & Mrs JL Norgard 17290 Septimus Burt Boatshed - Freshwater Bay 
Boatsheds, Peppermint Grove  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 

Mr GP & Mrs CE Black 767 Norseman Post Office, Norseman  $20,000.00  $20,000.00 
CJ Anderson, NM Crossing & CJ Stiles 2404 Cygnet Cinema, Como  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 
Scots Presbyterian Church 1009 Scots Presbyterian Church, Fremantle  $63,700.00  $63,700.00 
The Trustee for the Reid Property Trust 2877 York Primary School, York  $67,519.09  $67,519.09 
Bridgetown Enterprises Pty Ltd 248 Freemasons Hotel, Bridgetown  $86,136.36  $86,136.36 
The Weld Club 1950 The Weld Club, Perth  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 

Dome Coffees Australia 2286 District Medical Officer's Quarters (fmr), Port 
Hedland  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 

London Court Pty Ltd 1998 London Court, Perth  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 
Amelia Correira Holdings Pty Ltd 951 Fremantle Post Office, Fremantle  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 

FJM Property 1973 Postal Hall - Old Treasury Building (Central 
Government Offices), Perth  $100,000.00  $100,000.00 

Mr NDC Dillon 3680 Macaulay House, Cottesloe  $15,026.75  $15,026.75 
The Trustees of the Diocese of 
North West Australia

1611 St. Catherine's Anglican Church, Greenough  $34,070.00  $34,070.00 

Mr A Gianatti & Ms Y Tomita 386 Villa Carlotta, Busselton  $10,000.00  $5,210.00 

Mrs E Lee 11381 23 Kelly Street (Pemberton Timber Mill 
Workers’ Cottages Precinct)  $15,799.00  $16,286.50 

Mr R & Mrs N Martin 13900 Belay Farm Group, Walkaway  $8,535.21  $8,535.21 
Mr A & Mrs T Alps 17150 Tudor Lodge, Mount Lawley  $29,856.20  $31,231.20 
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Appendix l Heritage Grants Program Allocation 2013/14 continued

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Awarded Varied amount

Ms PS Cullen 11381 14 Karri Rise (Pemberton Timber Mill Workers’ 
Cottages Precinct)  $23,520.00  $23,520.00 

Mr G Kitto 2024 Parker & Parker - Commercial Building, 21 
Howard St, Perth  $4,750.00  $4,750.00 

Ms H Schairer 18772 22 Pakenham Street, Fremantle  $70,802.50  $70,802.50 

Mr M Cross 3228 Swanbourne Hospital Heritage Conservation 
Area, Swanbourne  $10,872.00  $10,872.00 

Primeking Pty Ltd 14922 Drew Robinson Building, Albany  $68,500.00  $68,500.00 
Mr JCW Ardley 8894 Model Brick House, Floreat  $19,150.00  $19,150.00 
Total   $1,259,001.71  $1,256,074.21

7.2 Appendix ll: Heritage Grants Program - Variations to previous years allocations

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Variation

D Pope 3569 Enderslea, Chittering ($8,299.50)
P & J Sinclair 3943 Summer Hill Group, New Norcia ($9,518.87)
Old Treasury (No 1) &  Old Treasury (No 2) 
Pty Ltd 1973 Postal Hall - Old Treasury Building (Central Government Offices), 

Perth $35,000.00

Solomons Leisure Unit Trust 1010 Fremantle Synagogue (fmr), Fremantle ($57,000.00)
L & T Evans 570 Railway Hotel (fmr), Coolgardie ($870.00)
Megaland Holdings Pty Ltd 1855 Colonial Tavern &  Stables, Northam ($1,886.50)
M Jaine & J Bowen 128 Earlsferry, Bassendean ($38,588.36)
Next Generation Clubs Australia 3801 Royal Kings Park Tennis Club, West Perth ($6,718.17)
M Venerys 14880 Gwambygine Farm, Gwambygine ($1,033.65)
J Pow 710 Southampton Homestead, Balingup $11,256.86

M Hordienko 11381 10 Kelly Street (Pembertone Timber Mill Workers' Cottages 
Precinct), Pemberton $40,948.90

($36,709.29)
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7.3 Appendix lll: Emergency Assistance Grant Allocation 2013/14

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Amount 

I Willmott 394 Sandilands, Busselton $33,000.00

7.4 Appendix lV: Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Funds Allocations 2013/14

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Amount 

M & J McKay 190 St Joseph's Convent, Boulder $299,410.00 
M & J McKay 14927 Lake View Hotel, Boulder $138,510.00 
M & J McKay 208 Goldfields Group Hotel, Boulder $134,250.00 

$572,170.00

7.5 Appendix V: Goldfields Earthquake Restoration Fund - Variations to previous years allocations

Applicant Place 
No. Place Name Variation

N Wolski 201 Cornwall Hotel, South Boulder $11,503.33
Owners of Strata Plan 32045 210 Queens Methodist Church, Boulder ($1,271.20)
R Alter 3574 Chambers Building, 33 Burt Street, Boulder ($26,251.46)
R Alter 15902 38-40 Burt street, Boulder ($1,877.60) 
R Alter 3575 Hocking & Co, 39 Burt Street, Boulder ($30,421.67) 
Gala Tavern 14934 Gala Hotel, Kalgoorlie ($50,792.42) 

($99,111.02)





Contact us

T:  (08) 6552 4000 
FREECALL (regional): 1800 524 000
F: (08) 6552 4001 
E: info@stateheritage.wa.gov.au
W: stateheritage.wa.gov.au

Heritage Council of Western Australia

State Heritage Office 
Bairds Building  
491 Wellington Street Perth 
PO Box 7479 
Cloisters Square  
PO WA 6850

mailto:info%40stateheritage.wa.gov.au?subject=
http://stateheritage.wa.gov.au
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